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about 
us [ our ethos ]

Purple Frog Communications was established in January 2010 by a group of 
like minded communications professionals.

start of a new decade, start of new beginnings...

We are a fully integrated, creative design and production resource.

Our vision is to deliver outstanding creative solutions across different media 
platforms. We partner with our clients to provide solutions which meet their 
exact needs, quality standards and budget.

Always looking to the future, we have our finger firmly on the pulse of design 
and technology and are constantly developing and expanding our skills set.

It’s not where you’re from; it’s where you’re going. 
It’s not what you drive; it’s what drives you. 
It’s not what you think; it’s what you know.
Unknown
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meet  
the team

[ our talent ]

Objectives are not fate; they are direction.
They are not commands; they are commitments. 
They do not determine the future.
They are means to mobilise the resources 
and energies of the business 
for the making of the future. 
Peter Drucker 1909 – 2005

Annette Jordaan
Production, advertising 

and typesetting

Natascha Jordaan
Project management,  

typesetting and  
quality control

Patricia Utton
Business development and

and project management
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Annette Jordaan
Production, advertising and typesetting

Annette’s career extends from Perskor, where she started as a 
typesetter in 1975, via Cline Color and Trend Graphics to Adcorp 
Graphics where, as DTP manager and assistant production 
manager, she was actively involved in corporate finance 
communications, specialising in annual reports, shareholder 
announcements, circulars, corporate ID and corporate events. 
When Adcorp Graphics was unbundled she moved to Basco 
Communications in a similar capacity. 

In 2002 she formed her own company, acting as a DTP consultant to a number of 
agencies, and is now making her considerable skills and experience in DTP, production and 
management available to Purple Frog.

Annette’s offering is characterised by meticulous attention to detail, strict observance of 
turnaround times and an unrivalled knowledge of financial communications.

The blue-chip clients she has worked on include Adcorp Holdings, Alexander Forbes, 
Bidvest, Discovery, JD Group, JSE Limited, Mandela Rhodes Foundation, MTN, Nedbank, 
Rembrandt, The Reserve Bank, Sasol, Standard Bank, Steinhoff, Sun International  
and Vodacom.
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Natascha Jordaan
Project management, typesetting and quality control

Natascha is a highly skilled typesetter with extensive knowledge  
and considerable experience in the production of annual and 
sustainability reports, financial advertisements and booklets, 
brochures,folders, analyst presentations and newsletters as well 
as more substantial projects. 

After being headhunted from her position as production manager for a top financial 
communications agency to join a top AltX listed company as project manager for the  
Investor Relations and Corporate Finance departments, she acted as a consultant to 
Investec, assisting the Marketing and Investor Relations teams in the production of their 
annual reports and other projects including banners, leaflets,brochures and corporate 
stationery.

Natascha’s in-depth understanding of the requirements of corporate communications is 
matched by her commitment to excellence, zero tolerance of inaccuracy and refusal to 
compromise on quality. 

Among the bluechip clients she has worked on are AVI Limited, African Bank, ArcelorMittal, 
Bidvest, Dawn, De Beers, Dimension Data, FirstRand Limited, Gold Fields, Kumba Iron Ore 
Limited, Nedbank, Standard Bank and Transnet.
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Patricia Utton
Business development and project management

Patricia’s career commenced in 1991 where she was employed 
at a number of major South African corporations, including 
Anglo American Property Services, Group Five Limited and the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange; in communications and marketing 
roles, for just over a decade. 

In 2003 she was introduced to the agency environment when she joined Visual Ignition 
as a business development consultant. Patricia assisted clients over a range of solutions, 
including annual reports, marketing and corporate collateral.

In 2006 she joined Ince.motiv as a business development consultant, and in 2010 she was 
promoted to business development director. Amongst the solutions she assisted her clients 
were annual reports, sustainability reports, corporate identity development, online annual 
reports and corporate websites, financial advertising, signage.

Patricia is dedicated to ensuring clients expectations are exceeded and that all needs are 
met. Her passion and “can do” attitude go hand in hand.

Clients that she has worked with in the past include: Adcock, African Bank, African Media 
Entertainment, African Rainbow Minerals, Alliance Data Corporation, Altech, Austro, Blue 
Label, Capital Property Fund, Consolidated Infrastructure Group, Country Bird, DataPro  
(now Vox Telecom Limited), Dialogue Group, Digicore, Eqstra, Finbond, Freedom Park Trust, 
Gijima, Glenrand, Great Basin, Human Science Research Council, Ideco, Imperial Holdings, 
Interwaste, Massmart, Merafe Resources, Metmar, Mix Telematics, Mondi, Onelogix, Rare 
Holdings, Raubex, Rebosis, Redefine, Reinforcing Mesh Solutions, Resilient, Royal Bafokeng 
Platinum, Royal Sechaba, SA Post Office, Sasfin, Securedata, Silver Bridge, Spescom, 
Stefstocks, Super Group, UCS, Universal Industries, Vunani Limited, Wilson Bayly Holmes, 
Wesizwe, Wits Gold and York Timbers.

Purple Frog new profile.indd   6 2011/09/07   4:04 PM



Talent does what  
it can, genius does  
what it must. 
Edward George Bulwer-Lytton  
1803 – 1873
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We specialise in design and production for print, web design and all areas 
of creative consultancy and development. We provide a full creative and 
production service, taking your project from initial concept right through  
to completion.

Our core services include integrated annual reports, sustainability reports, 
financial advertising, SENS announcements, corporate identity and branding, 
corporate brochures. We are also able to facilitate magazine adverts, corporate 
literature, signage, billboards, banners, exhibition stands, web design, 
corporate gifts and events management.

Intuition will tell the thinking 
mind where to look next.
Jonas Salk 1914 – 1995

our
services

[ what we offer ]
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PRODUCTION SERVICES

DESIGN
Our design team includes creative and dynamic senior and medium weight designers, 
highly qualified and experienced in different design areas, including packaging, 
branding, websites and corporate financial reports.

TYPESETTING AND LAYOUT
Our typesetting resources comprise of senior typesetters with extensive in-depth 
knowledge of corporate finance reporting. Their wealth of experience (99 years in total) 
is complemented by their meticulous attention to detail and tight turnaround times. 

PHOTOGRAPHY
We are able to call upon a number of specialist photographers, each with  their own 
area of expertise, ranging through mining and construction and still life to portraits and 
group photography.

PRINTING
We procure and manage the entire print and production process.

FINANCIAL ADVERTISING, SENS AND MEDIA
We manage all media placements through an established media placing company. 

Our offering includes financial advertisements, statutory and cautionary notices,  
SENS announcements, as well as media strategy and planning.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND PRESS RELEASES
We partner with highly skilled and experienced investor relations practitioners  
to formulate, implement and manage your communication strategy, as well as to  
facilitate the dissemination of investor information to key stakeholders through  
various channels, including the media.
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EDITORIAL SERVICES

MULTI-MEDIA SERVICES

VISUAL SERVICES

•	 Proofreading
•	 Strategic and sustainability report writing
•	 Copywriting
•	 Copy editing
•	 Translation

Our pool of editorial specialists have qualifications ranging from law and labour law to 
language and translation theory. They have combined experience of over 100 years in 
the corporate financial industry and offer creative and dynamic copywriting, different 
levels of editing depending on client requirements, accurate and elegant translation, 
meticulous proofreading and scrupulous adherence to turnaround times.

The ability to convey information across a number of platforms is essential in the 
current multi-media communications environment. 

Our delivery platforms include:
•	 Web design
•	 PowerPoint presentations
•	 Voice overs

Our resource team includes highly experienced specialists in web design and 
PowerPoint presentations. 

•	 Banners
•	 Billboards
•	 Events
•	 Corporate gifts

The artist is nothing 
without the gift, but the gift  
is nothing without work.
Edward George Bulwer-Lytton 1803 – 1873
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Express House, 28 Durban Street 
Cnr Nugget Street, City & Suburban  
Johannesburg, South Africa  
PO Box 261382, Excom 2023
Tel: +27 11 334 7020, Fax: +27 11 334 6026

CONTACT Nikki du ToitCell: 074 153 0104Email: nikkid@lespecs.co.za

2010

HOT&  HAPPENINGTHIS SUMMERSDM EYEWEAR LAUNCHES…

SKECHERS EYEWEAR launches 
for summer 2010!Everyone on the contemporary fashion block has 

donned a pair of Skechers sneakers or footwear  

…Now the Optical Frames and Sunglasses extends 

their brand repertoire as the ultimate companion for 

the sassy dresser.Skechers Eyewear teams exciting colours with original 

temple design, appealing to both guys and girls, from 

early teens to mid 30s who are looking for some 

eyewear vooma in their accessory wardrobe. Included 

in the range are kiddies optical frames with PD’s of 

44, in plastics and memory metals.Because facts and figures sometimes win in the fashion 

stakes, we have packaged Skechers as an affordable 

mid-market brand that is available to your patients 

within the medical aid rates. Call us the view Skechers Eyewear. The price tag 
is just as inspiring as the fashion tag!  

It will add vibe, vibrancy and vitality 
to your eyewear offering and what 
better time to launch than this 
summer!

Whoah! Who is that guy in the 
suit with the wild in his eyes?

It’s your Harley Davidson enthusiast, a ‘Wild Child’ 

over the weekend, but during the week a professional 

person who dresses as such Monday to Friday. Now 

the passion and loyalty he has for his weekend gear is 

cleverly packaged by Harley Davidson into a discerning 

Harley eyewear offering that embraces the brand 

values he so appreciates and is now so appropriate on 

his bike and in the boardroom.The optical range is now available and suited to your mature 

male market. With classic styling and subtle branding on 

the temples, Harley Davidson eyewear will be admired 

not only by your Die Hard Harley Davidson riders, but by 

those gentlemen who appreciate good quality frames and 

good value for money.  The range comprises metals in full frames and semi-rimless, 

with PD’s from 49 to 57 with bow temples. Shallow frames 

are also available which can be made up into readers, as 

well as deep semi-rimless for your multi-focals.
The sunglass range is divided into prescription-ready 

metals and acetates, and your sunglasses for your more 

daring Harley enthusiasts.We have a representative in your area that would like 

to present Harley-Davidson Eyewear to you. Please 

contact us for more information. Nothing like the wind 

on your back and Harley Davidson shielding your eyes…

Sectio
n G

Employer in
form

atio
n (only for existi

ng Paypoints)

Name of employer 

Departm
ent co

de 

 

Divisio
n number (if

 applicable)     

Pay point (if
 applicable) 

 
Organisation code (if a

pplicable)     

Employment date 

Y
Y

Y
Y

M
M

D
D

Number of dependants 

Adult

Child

Non-subsidised

Plan contrib
ution 

Total 

We confirm that th
e applica

nt is 
employed by us and commenced employment on the above date. Contrib

utions are being deducted acco
rding to the Scheme Rules and option chosen. 

All se
ctio

ns of th
e applica

nt fo
rm have been completed.

Employer’s e
-mail address 

Employer re
presentative’s n

ame 

Employer re
presentative’s d

esignation 

        
   

Company sta
mp

Consultant’s 
sig

nature 
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
  Date    

Y
Y

Y
Y

M
M

D
D

Im
porta

nt conditio
ns o

f M
embersh

ip

1. 
Discl

aimer

 
Brochures are summaries and do not su

persede the registe
red Rules of th

e Scheme. All benefits a
re paid in acco

rdance with the registe
red Rules of th

e Scheme.

2. 
Are all b

enefits a
vailable once I a

m a member?

 
 Benefits a

re based on a 12-month period (Ja
nuary to December). D

epending on which month you join the Scheme, your benefits w
ill b

e pro-rated acco
rdingly, i

.e. sh
ould you join in 

April, 
you have 9 months’ b

enefits a
vailable. If 

a benefit fo
r th

e year is 
R1 200 you will h

ave 9/12 x R1 200 = R900. Waitin
g periods are applied to some conditio

ns, i.
e. pregnancy.

3. 
How do I p

ay contrib
utions?

 
Your co

ntrib
utions are deducted fro

m your sa
lary by your employer or directly

 fro
m your bank acco

unt.

4. 
Do I h

ave to wait b
efore I ca

n cla
im for benefits?

 
Yes, o

n pre-existin
g conditio

ns, e.g. a conditio
n prior to

 joining the Scheme. You will r
eceive writte

n notification if w
aitin

g periods are imposed.

5. 
Will c

ontrib
utions in

cre
ase after I b

ecome a member?

 
Yes. A

ll m
edical sc

hemes in
crease contrib

utions fr
om tim

e to tim
e when the cost o

f m
edical, dental, hospital or other health services in

crease or w
hen benefits a

re improved.

6. 
What happens w

hen I e
xceed my annual benefit lim

its?

 
You will b

e liable for th
e payment of any excess a

mount directly
 to the service provider.

7. 
Can I re

sign fro
m the sch

eme at any tim
e?

 
The Scheme requires th

ree months notice
 in writin

g of your in
tention to cancel your m

embership.

8. 
Late Joiner penalty

 
 Late Joiner penalty may be applied to an applica

nt or dependant(s)
 joining a medical aid after th

e age of 35, who had no cre
ditable cover w

ith one or m
ore medical sc

heme prior 

to 1 April 2
001 without a break in membership exceeding 3 consecutive months.

9. 
Non-discl

osure of m
edical co

nditio
n

 
 Failing to discl

ose your m
edical histo

ry, 
and that of your dependants, 

accu
rately on this a

pplica
tion for entitle

s M
edshield to terminate your m

embership and that of any 

dependants in
 terms of th

e Medical Schemes Act.

Medical Scheme declaratio
n

Medshield Medical Scheme confirm that:

1.1 A member’s p
ersonal details a

nd medical information (obtained fro
m healthcare providers w

ith the explicit
 consent of th

e member) sh
all be kept co

nfidential;

1.2 Member in
formation (personal and health information) will n

ot be used for purposes of re
lated company business n

or so
ld for co

mmercia
l purposes;

1.3  The medical sc
heme has data security

 measures in
 place including anti v

irus se
curity

, prevention of unauthorise
d acce

ss t
o members d

etails, 
eliminating unauthorise

d e-mails, 

we-mails a
nd acce

ss c
ontrols fo

r sig
ning on to the computer sy

stem;

1.4  The medical sc
heme has granted acce

ss, t
o certain persons w

ithin the organisation and its 
contracted third partie

s, to
 a beneficiaries’ p

ersonal and health information. This is
 for 

the facilit
ation of normal business p

rocesses;

1.5 All st
aff w

ithin the medical sc
heme and its 

contracted third partie
s is

 bound by internal co
nfidentiality

 agreements;

1.6  The medical sc
heme and its 

contracted third partie
s w

ill u
se the medical health/diagnosis/

procedure information for th
e following purposes: p

rocessin
g the applica

tion for m
em-

bership; re
-im

bursement of cl
aims, d

etermining member entitle
ment to

 benefits, C
ompliance Incentive Programme and ris

k management practic
es. R

isk management practic
es 

include: Hospital ris
k management, D

isease risk
 management and Medicin

e risk
 management;

1.7  The medical sc
heme has ensured that co

nfidentiality
 agreements h

ave been entered into with all co
ntracted third partie

s w
ho have acce

ss t
o beneficiary information for th

e 

purposes of data tra
nsfer and management, sc

heme administr
ation and managed care arrangements;

1.8 In the event of a breach in confidentiality,
 the medical sc

heme assu
mes re

sponsibility
 and the breach will b

e managed acco
rding to the sch

eme’s in
ternal protocols.

Consultant’s 
sig

nature 
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
     

     
  Date    

Y
Y

Y
Y

M
M

D
D

Medshield Member App.indd   7

2010/08/16   2:05 PM

20. Skin conditions/disorders, e.g. acne, eczema, psoriasis, etc?  

Yes           
No

Name of member

Condition and date 

diagnosed

Name of medication
Are you currently  

on treatment?
Date of last treatment

Attending doctor

21.  Ear, nose or throat disorders, e.g. ear discharge, recurrent tonsillitis? 

Yes           
No

Name of member

Condition and date 

diagnosed

Name of medication
Are you currently  

on treatment?
Date of last treatment

Attending doctor

22. Infectious diseases, e.g. Tuberculosis, shingles, measles, etc? 

Yes           
No

Name of member

Condition and date 

diagnosed

Name of medication
Are you currently  

on treatment?
Date of last treatment

Attending doctor

23. Malignant neoplasms (cancers, growths or malignant tumours?  

Yes           
No

Name of member

Condition and date 

diagnosed

Name of medication
Are you currently  

on treatment?
Date of last treatment

Attending doctor

24. Benign neoplasms (non-malignant tumours/growths)? 

Yes           
No

Name of member

Condition and date 

diagnosed

Name of medication
Are you currently  

on treatment?
Date of last treatment

Attending doctor

25.  Specialised dentistry/maxillo-facial treatment? 

Yes           
No

Name of member

Condition and date 

diagnosed

Name of medication
Are you currently  

on treatment?
Date of last treatment

Attending doctor

26. Have you had, or are you expecting to have, plastic or reconstructive surgery?  

Yes           
No

Name of member

Condition and date 

diagnosed

Name of medication
Are you currently  

on treatment?
Date of last treatment

Attending doctor

Surgery and hospital admissions

Please supply details of all surgical procedure(s) and ALL HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS that you or any of your dependants have undergone in the past, and/or details of all planned surgical  

procedure(s) and ALL HOSPITAL ADMISSIONS that you or any of your dependants expect to undergo in the future.

Applicant

Surgical procedure/

Hospital admission

Date

Reason

Doctor

Current condition

Immune deficiency status (confidential disclosure)

If you or any of your dependants have been diagnosed with HIV/AIDS or any immunoglobulin deficiencies, please contact 0860 100 646 for more information or join Aid for AIDS, a 

comprehensive care and counselling programme for people living with HIV/AIDS.

I, the undersigned consultant, hereby declare that as a broker I have explained the AFA programme and the benefits it provides, as well as the importance of joining this programme 

should the principal member or any dependants have been diagnosed with HIV/AIDS or any immunoglobulin deficiencies.

Consultant’s signature          
         

         
         

         
         

         
         

         
 Date    Y Y Y Y M M D D
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Section A Personal details (attach copy of ID)

Title           Initials               Surname     

First name/s 

ID/passport number  Date of birth     Y Y Y Y M M D D      

Postal address 

  Postal code     

Residential address 

  Postal code     

E-mail address 

Telephone number (W)  C O D E
  (H)  C O D E

Cell  Fax  C O D E

Tax number  Basic monthly income  R
Please complete for marketing purposes

 Perusal number (if applicable)  

Race                         Gender     Male Female  Marital status     Single Married Divorced Widowed

Section B Dependants you wish to register

Complete a separate (MEMO2) to register the following dependants: mother, father, grandparent, grandchild, adopted child, brother, sister, child over 25 or any other relative. Acceptance 
of dependants will be in accordance with the Rules of the Scheme.

Special dependants (parents, adult, or overage child, foster child, niece, nephew, brother, sister)

Spouse or partner (attach copy of ID) (In case of a common law spouse also complete MEMO3)

Title           Initials               Surname     

First name/s 

Previous surname   
ID number Y Y M M D D  Gender     Male Female      

Country of residence  Marital status     Single Married Divorced Widowed

Dependants (attach copies of ID or Birth Certificate) Affidavit required for special dependants)

First name
Surname if different to 

principal member ID number Date of birth
Gender 
(M/F)

Relationship to  
principal member

Adult over 21  
(Yes/No)

1. Y Y M M D D

2. Y Y M M D D

3. Y Y M M D D

4. Y Y M M D D

5. Y Y M M D D

6. Y Y M M D D

Are the adult dependants financially dependent on the principal member? Yes           No

Do the dependants receive an income, e.g. pension, salary? Yes           No

If Yes, what is the monthly income? Adult dependant 1: R  Adult dependant 3: R 

   Adult dependant 2: R  Adult dependant 4: R 

Section C Previous medical history

Where applicable, please provide details and proof of membership of previous medical scheme cover for a period of 24 months or longer, with less than a 90 day break between schemes, 
prior to joining Medshield Medical Scheme.

Name of scheme Membership number Date joined Date terminated

Y Y M M D D

Y Y M M D D

Y Y M M D D

Y Y M M D D
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Medshield Member Application
  MediBonus 

  MediPlus 
  MediValue

Please complete in black ink. Print clearly using capital letters. Only one character per block.

Leave one block between words. Mark with an X where necessary. You must complete all sections of this application form.

Please note: ID/passport numbers are to be provided for the principal member as well as all beneficiaries.

Should this be outstanding, your application cannot be processed. Please include copies of all ID documents and/or birth certificates,  

and a copy of your bank statement or cancelled cheque.

Date membership to commence    Y Y Y Y M M D D

FOR OFFICE USE ONLYMembership number    

      Group code    

      Broker code    

Underwriting
GWP    Y NPMB    Y NCSW    Y N  

 

 

LJP    
%

Total Premium 

Applicant’s signature                                                                                   Date    Y Y Y Y M M D D
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projects  
produced by us

conceptualise •  actualise • realise

Medshield
Member application 

documentation

The House of Busby
Skechers and Harley Davidson 

eyewear summer lauch e-mailer

The House of Busby
Guess eyewear promotion
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Slide heading for the presentation

How to realise our vision

To develop a strong position in the market.

To leverage our competitive advantage through our core

competencies and operational efficiencies.

Extending the “Brand” through a shared products/service

offering or initiate co-branding ventures.

Develop strategic channel relationships between

BU’s and the Group

one group

one vision

>>>

one
partnership

01

Aveng Manufacturing aims to be a leading supplier of mining, construction and

building materials including the construction and maintenance of railway lines,

while contributing to Aveng’s sustainable profit to shareholders and a great place

to work for employees.

 

    

Slide heading for the presentation

Business development role

Co-ordinate and deliver the Aveng Group’s Business

Development and Marketing strategy.

Ensure OG’s growth through supporting and directing

developmental activities to ensure these are delivered in

accordance with the Groups strategy.

To seek synergy among the Group’s various businesses.

To look at what distinctive competencies can give the OG

a competitive advantage.

To look at which of the competencies match the needs

and wants of the market in the business target segments.

one group

one vision

>>>

one
partnership

02

    

 

Business development 2010

Mineral R
eserves*

Based on a g
old price

 of US$975/oz an
d an exchange rat

e of R8.00/US$ (R250 000/kg)

Bloemhoek project  

(SOFS goldfield)

Mt

Grade 

(g/t)

Moz

Probable Reserves

31.6

5.3

5.4

Mineral R
esources*

(at a
 cut-off gr

ade of 3 g/t 
Au)

SOFS goldfield

Indicate
d Gold Resources

Indicate
d Uranium Resources

Inferred Gold Resources
Inferred Uranium Resources

Mt

Grade 

(g/t)
Moz

Mt

Grade 

(Kg/t)
Mlbs

Mt

Grade 

(g/t)
Moz

Mt

Grade 

(Kg/t)
Mlbs

DBM project

34.5

5.3

5.9
17.0

0.16

6.1
25.0

5.2

4.2
11.9

0.14

3.7

Bloemhoek project

47.8

6.9
10.6

–

–

–
15.3

6.9

3.4
63.1

0.15
20.9

Probable Mineral R
eserves ar

e contain
ed in the Indicate

d Resources at
 the Bloemhoek Project.

Total M
ineral R

esources*

Goldfield

Indicate
d Gold Resources

Indicate
d Uranium Resources

Inferred Gold Resources
Inferred Uranium Resources

Mt

Grade 

(g/t)
Moz

Mt

Grade 

(Kg/t)
Mlbs

Mt

Grade 

(g/t)
Moz

Mt

Grade 

(Kg/t)
Mlbs

SOFS

114.6

6.0
21.9

17.0
0.16

6.1
127.2

4.7
19.1

194.2
0.23

98.7

Klerksd
orp

–

–

–

–

–

–
85.1

14.5
39.5

–

–

–

Potchefstro
om

–

–

–

–

–

–
333.6

7.1
75.8

250.0
0.30

163.6

Total

114.6

6.0
21.9

17.0
0.16

6.1
545.9

7.7
134.5

444.2
0.27

262.3

*Minera
l Resou

rce 
and Reser

ve e
stim

ates 
are c

ompliant w
ith t

he N
I 43-101 and SAMREC rep

ortin
g co

des.

Board and management te
am

Mr Adam Fle
ming (C

hairm
an)

Prof Tao
le Mokoena (D

eputy C
hairm

an)

Dr M
arc 

Watch
orn (CEO)

Mr Derek U
rquhart 

(CFO)

Dr Humphrey M
athe (Director)

Mrs G
ayle

 Wilson (Director)

Mr Hethen Hira (
IR Manager)
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South Africa’s NEXT shallow GOLD MINE…

Wits Gold is a gold exploration company with assets located in 

the Witwatersrand Basin in South Africa.  

The Company has been granted 14 new order prospecting rights over 1 195 km2 in areas 

adjacent to existing mines in the Potchefstroom, Klerksdorp and southern Free State 

goldfields. These prospecting rights contain Indicated Resources of 21.9 Moz of gold and 

6.1 Mlb of uranium, as well as Inferred Resources of 134.5 Moz of gold and 262.3 Mlb of 

uranium oxide.

The Company is currently concentrating on two advanced exploration projects, DBM and 

Bloemhoek, in the southern Free State (SOFS) goldfield. 

At the DBM project, a preliminary economic assessment is in progress to investigate the 

potential of  this area to host a shallow mine at depths of  500 – 1 250 metres below 

surface. Total resources of  59.5 Mt at 5.3 g/t  (10.1 Moz) have been estimated at DBM which 

includes a high grade zone of Indicated Resource situated between 500 and 1 000 metres 

containing 9.5 Mt at 7.9 g/t Au (2.4 Moz). 

In the Bloemhoek area to the immediate west, a Pre-Feasibility Study has resulted in the 

estimation of a Probable Reserve of 31.6 Mt at 5.3 g/t gold (5.4 Moz) occurring at 1 300 –  

2 400 metres below surface.

An infill drilling programme is in progress to supplement the resources and reserves already 

delineated at DBM and Bloemhoek, respectively.

FACT 
SHEET
March 2011

JSE: WGR

TSX: WGR

OTC:  WIWTY

www.witsgold.com
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Our values (PUTE)

•   Professionalism	–	we	carry	o
ut	all	our	business	in

	a	professional	and	

respectable way.

•  Ubuntu	–	we	reflect	the	spirit	o
f	an	Africa

n	approach	to	human	ethics	 

that embrace honesty, tr
ust, re

spect, ca
re and empathy for those we 

associate with.

•  Transparency	–	we	engage	with	our	partners	with	openness	and	

transparency.

•  Empowerment	–	we	stro
ngly	believe	in	empowerment	of	the	previously	

disadvantaged communities of our country a
nd endeavour to contribute 

to their im
provement through black economic empowerment statutes  

and other avenues available to us.

Vision
To be the empowerment partner of choice to companies requiring 
a broad-based and/or competent black partner to do business in 
South Africa and the rest of Africa.

Mission
To provide good shareholder value 
through investment in listed and 
unlisted entities with solid returns.

POWERMATLA
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Highlights

Challenges

•   Efficiencies resulted from increasing train lengths to 

harness haulage capability. Freight Rail w
as operating 

several im
proved capacity trains on a weekly basis, 

including anaconda container trains, manganese trains 

and heavier coal trains by year-end.

•   Export coal tons per train delivered increased from  

7 400 to 7 900.

•   Export iron ore: The implementation of new Class 15E 

locomotives and the implementation of the Concept  

39 train plan continue to contribute to improvements in 

locomotive efficiencies and wagon turnaround time.

•   Prolonged industrial strike action and subsequent slow 

recovery impeded operational efficiency despite specific 

actions to improve efficiencies and compensate for lost 

volumes.

•   The container business declined orders of 43 000 TEUs 

for the six months ending March 2011, as a result of the 

shortage of locomotives, network incidents and capacity 

constraints.

•   Heavy rainfalls in the Northern Cape in early 2011, washed 

away sections of lines in the Kamfersdam area, im
peding 

plans to increase manganese volumes. This adversely 

affected turnaround times as trains had to be re-routed.

•   Delays in on-time arrivals due to transit incidents such as 

theft and locomotive failure.

•   Revenue for the year was 8,6% higher compared to the 

prior year. 

•   A marginal increase in General Freight volumes railed 

(1,6mt or 2,2% increase at higher revenue per ton as well 

as a change in commodity mix to higher revenue per unit 

commodities) resulted in a 12,3% increase in General 

Freight revenue. 

•   Iron ore volumes increased by 1,5mt and Transnet is 

pursuing tariff adjustments in order to achieve a fair 

return on its heavy capital investment on the iron ore line. 

•   Export coal revenue remained stagnant compared to the 

prior year due to a lack of volume growth, resulting from 

industrial action in the first quarter as well as adverse 

weather conditions in the third and fourth quarters 

affecting the mining and railing of export coal.

•   Energy costs increased by 15,2%, mainly due to an  

increase in the fuel price and a significant increase in 

electricity tariffs.

•   Maintenance and materials costs increased by 16,0% 

mainly due to an increase in maintenance activity levels.

4
FINANCIAL 

SUSTAINABILITY

1
PRODUCTIVITY  

AND 

EFFICIENCY

•   Of the 48 participants in the ‘Graduates in Training’ 

programme contracted for an 18 – 24-month period,  

36 were successfully placed in permanent positions. 

•   Of the 19 ‘people with disabilities’ given internship 

opportunities, 40% completed their training 

successfully.

•   The ‘Engineering Empowerment’ programme was 

successfully launched. 

•   The ‘Management Development’ programme was 

successfully launched and piloted. Of the 12 candidates 

who attended the pilot programme, seven have already 

been appointed as operations trainee managers.

•   Freight Rail training expenditure which was 2,2% in  

2011 as a percentage of personnel costs is marginally 

below target. 

5
HUMAN 

CAPITAL

•   A minimum 4-star NOSA rating target was set for all 

depots. Of the 46 depots audited, 23 achieved 4-star 

ratings or higher. All the Container and Automotive 

business depots achieved the target. 

•   Incidents relating to hook-ups reduced by 12% due to 

various governance structures being implemented, 

including: a regional Hook-Up Committee, the National 

Steering Committee, and emergency repair teams.

•   Centralised Train Control (CTC) failures have reduced by 

25% due to the implementation of 11kV power supply 

upgrades in problem areas, the migration from the use 

of copper cable to fibre optic cable; and increased back-

up power supply.

•   The greatest disappointment during the year was the 

poor safety performance that resulted in damage to key 

railway assets and injuries to our employees. Following an 

overall progressive safety performance improvement 

over the past five years (2006 – 2010) on all the 

measured safety incidents, Freight Rail only achieved a 

12% reduction against the stretch target of 33% in 2011. 

Freight Rail regrets to report eight work-related 

employee fatalities during the year, including a single 

incident that claimed four lives. 

6, 7, 8

STRATEGIC 

ENABLERS, 

SHEQ AND 

REGULATORY

•   Freight Rail took delivery of two new Model C30ACi 

locomotives from GE which are undergoing acceptance 

testing. GE will b
uild the first 10 locomotives at its 

plants in the USA. The remaining 90 of the 100 new 

diesel Class 43 locomotives will b
e assembled by Rail 

Engineering at its manufacturing facility in 

Koedoespoort. 

•   Transnet has acquired an additional 32 new Class 15E 

locomotives.  

•   Funding constraints continue to be the major challenge  

for the execution of the capital investment programme.

•   The General Freight business continues to experience 

challenges due to the shortage of locomotives. This is 

coupled with severe pressure from increasing market 

demand. 

•   The infrastructure modernisation programme still n
eeds 

to be defined and commissioned in the short term as 

major components on the network face obsolescence.

3
CAPITAL 

INVESTMENT

•   The Container and Automotive business recorded its 

highest ever annual volumes of 627 825 TEUs during the 

year. In February 2011, a record 62 000 TEUs was 

transported nationally, which is the highest recorded 

monthly volume on rail. M
arket share improved to 34%, 

which could have been greater if operational capacity  

was available. 

•   Domestic coal volumes increased 12% compared to the 

prior year. 

•   For the 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup, Freight Rail  

loaded and delivered a record 17,1 millio
n litres jet fuel and 

450 000 tons of cement for the stadiums.

•   Manganese volumes delivered improved by 32,9%. 

•   Domestic iron ore performance was 0,8mt more than the 

prior year.

•   Key commodities, such as rock phosphate and magnetite, 

performed below expectations due to the collapse of 

Brakspruit Bridge between Phalaborwa and Hoedspruit. 

A road-rail solution implemented during the bridge collapse 

ensured continued operations, although at lower levels. 

•   Richards Bay Coal Terminal (RBCT) experienced tippler 

constraints due to scheduled and unscheduled 

maintenance, resulting in 73 train cancellations, affecting 

export coal volumes.

•   All freight volumes were adversely impacted by the strike.

•   Derailments on the main line resulted in losses of 3,1mt in 

export iron ore volumes. 

•   Production problems experienced by key customers 

resulted in tonnage losses on the iron ore line. 

2
VOLUME 

GROWTH

175

The five-year capital investment plan

Port Terminals will spend R5,0 billion over the next 

five years on capital investments, excluding 

capitalised borrowing costs. The capital plan has 

been prioritised to achieve the objectives of the key 

strategic focus areas. This has resulted in the 

majority of capital expenditure of R4,1 billion 

(80,7%), being invested to sustain existing 

operations and the remainder of R970 million 

(19,3%), being invested to increase capacity to 

achieve growth initiatives.

Safety performance

Port Terminals achieved a DIFR of 0,51 for 2011 

from 0,71 in the prior year. Despite improvements in 

the DIFR, Port Terminals regrets to report one 

employee fatality during the year at the Durban 

RoRo Terminal. Port Terminals conveys its 

condolences to the family and friends of the 

deceased. This matter has been the subject of a 

Board of Inquiry investigation. The Board concluded 

that the incident was primarily due to the driving of 

a vehicle in an operations area in excess of the 

speed limit. Detailed remedial measures are in place 

to prevent similar incidents in future. 

Port Terminals anticipates a reduction in the 

number of safety incidents in 2012 given the 

increased focus in this area to achieve the  

‘Quantum Leap’ safety targets.

Port Terminals accomplishes its safety objectives 

through value-driven and proactive safety 

leadership. Safety management has been 

transformed into a dynamic and proactive risk-

based management model, which integrates safety 

and operational management systems. Progressive 

behavioural change and safety awareness 

initiatives elevate safety behaviours at terminals.

Transnet has implemented the ‘Golden Safety 

League’, which encourages competition amongst 

Operating divisions on safety behaviours. Port 

Terminals initially selected the Richards Bay 

Terminal and Durban Container Terminals (Pier 1 

and Pier 2) as high-impact business areas, in terms 

of safety incidents, to participate in the 

programme. Cape Town Container Terminal and 

Ngqura Container Terminal will participate in 2012. 

Safety performance is managed by monitoring 

three key performance indicators (KPIs), namely:  

the number of safety incidents; the cost of risk  

(% of revenue); and the disabling injury frequency 

rate (DIFR).

Environmental management

There were no major environmental incidents  

during the year. The Operating division will use its 

best efforts to ensure that it achieves its target of 

zero environmental incidents over the next five 

years.

The Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA) 

performed audits at both the Port Elizabeth and 

Richards Bay bulk plants. The outcome was positive 

for both plants. The Operating division has 

developed an environmental management plan to 

address the challenges highlighted by the audit. 

Crane operator at the Port of Durban.

R2,8 BILLION 

planned 

replacements of 

container  handling 

equipment at 

various terminals.

ZERO 

major 

environmental 

incidents in the 

next five years.

Transnet SOC Ltd       freight rail   rail engineering   national ports authority   port term
inals   pipelines       Integrated Annual Report 2011 Integrated Annual Report 2011Transnet SOC Ltd

47th floor, Carlton Centre
150 Commissioner Street
Johannesburg, 2001
www.transnet.net

HOW DO YOU BENEFIT?

As an Envision shareholder, you receive dividends – this 

is your share of the profit we make. 

Envision shared in 3% or R419 million of the total  

2010 dividend. Of this, R358 million will go to settle the 

Envision loan and the rest goes to employees. That’s a 

dividend of approximately R61 million for employees for 

the 2010 year. 

Since the establishment of Envision, a total dividend of 

R989 million has been paid. 

Usually, dividends are paid to you twice every year.  

The only reason we would not pay dividends is if that 

money was needed to pay for growth.

Your dividends are paid by Sishen Iron Ore Company, 

which created Envision. In 2006, the company lent  

R822 million to the Envision share scheme to buy 

36 million shares on behalf of employees. The only 

conditions were that you had to be a South African citizen, 

permanently employed by the company and not part of 

any other share scheme already operating in the company. 

Because Envision is a closed scheme, you cannot buy 

more shares than you already own. 

This loan is being paid back steadily from the money 

Envision gets after your dividends have been paid.  

That is why you receive a smaller portion of the  

total dividend. 

In 2011, your Envision shares will be swapped for 

Kumba shares and sold for you on the JSE. You will 

receive your share of that cash after tax has been paid. 

Because the price of shares goes up and down, we 

cannot tell you what Kumba shares will be worth in 

2011 but the harder we work, the better we do. And the 

better we do, the higher the share price could go. 

There are other benefits to participating in Envision. 

These were explained in the booklet you received 

when the scheme was launched. One of these benefits 

protects your family – if you die before November 2011, 

your family will receive a cash payout equal to your  

share of Envision. We will also pay out your share if  

you are retrenched, retire or cannot work because of 

medical problems. 

If you need another copy of the Envision booklet, 

contact Esme van Eyssen on 012 307 4218 or 

download it from TheSource.

DIVIDENDS (R MILLION)

2006 – 2010
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The following statement, which should be read in conjunction with the auditors’ report set out on pages 299 to 301, is made with a view to 

distinguishing for stakeholders the respective responsibilities of the directors and of the auditors in relation to the combined consolidated 

financial statements.

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and objectivity of the combined consolidated financial statements that fairly present 

the state of affairs of the company and the group at the end of the financial year and the net income and cash flows for the year, and other 

information contained in this report.

To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities:

•	  The board and management set standards and management implements systems of internal controls and accounting and information 

systems aimed at providing reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risk of fraud, error or loss is reduced in a cost 

effective manner. These controls, contained in established policies and procedures, include the proper delegation of responsibilities and 

authorities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties

•	  The group’s internal audit function, which operates unimpeded and independently from operational management, and has unrestricted 

access to the group audit committee, appraises and, when necessary, re
commends improvements in the system of internal controls and 

accounting practices, based on audit plans that take cognisance of the relative degrees of risk of each function or aspect of the business

•	  The group audit committee, together with the Internal Audit department, plays an integral role in matters relating to financial and internal 

control, accounting policies, reporting and disclosure.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, based on the above, the directors are satisfied that no material breakdown in the operation of the 

system of internal control and procedures has occurred during the year under review.

The group consistently adopts appropriate and recognised accounting policies and these are supported by reasonable judgements and 

estimates on a consistent basis and provides additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) are insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on 

the group’s financial position and financial performance.

The financial statements of the company and the group have been prepared in accordance with the respective Companies Acts of the United 

Kingdom and South Africa, comply with IFRS and Article 4 of the IAS regulation.

The directors are of the opinion, based on their knowledge of the company, key processes in operation and specific enquiries that adequate 

resources exist to support the company on a going concern basis over the next year. These financial statements have been prepared on that 

basis.

It is the responsibility of the independent auditors to report on the combined consolidated financial statements. Their report to the members of 

the company and group is set out on pages 299 to 301 of this report. As far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of 

which the companies’ auditors are unaware. All steps which ought to have been taken as directors have been completed in order to be aware 

of the relevant audit information and to establish that the companies’ auditors are aware of that information.

Approval of financial statements

The directors’ report and the financial statements of the company and the group, which appear on pages 290 to 294 and pages 302 to 397, 

were approved by the board of directors on 15 June 2011.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the companies’ website. 

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of the financial statements may differ from legislation in other 

jurisdictions.

Signed on behalf of the board

Stephen Koseff  

Bernard Kantor

Chief executive officer  

Managing director

15 June 2011
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Group structure

Group operating structure

Investec is a focused, specialist bank and asset manager striving to be distinctive in all that it does. Our strategic goals and objectives 

are motivated by the desire to develop an efficient and integrated business on an international scale through the active pursuit of clearly 

established core competencies in our principal business areas. Our core philosophy has been to build well-defined, value-added businesses 

focused on serving the needs of select market niches where we can compete effectively.

We seek to maintain an appropriate balance between revenue earned from operational risk businesses and revenue earned from financial risk 

businesses. This ensures that we are not over reliant on any one part of our business to sustain our activities and that we have a large recurring 

revenue base that enables us to navigate through varying cycles and to support our long-term growth objectives. Our current strategic 

objectives include increasing the proportion of our non-lending revenue base which we largely intend to achieve through the continued 

strengthening and development of our wealth and asset management businesses.

Integrated global management structure

Asset Management and Wealth 

Management

Specalist Bank

• Specialised lending 

• Structured derivatives

• Securitisation and 

 principal finance

• Specialist funds

• Australia

• Canada

• India
• Southern Africa

• UK and Europe

• Corporate finance

• Institutional research,  

 sales and trading

• Principal investments

• Australia

• Hong Kong

• India
• Southern Africa

• UK and Europe

• USA

• Banking activities

• Growth and 

 acquisition finance

• Specialised lending

• Structured property

 finance

• Trust and fiduciary  

 services

• Australia

• Southern Africa

• UK and Europe

• Portfolio management

• Stockbroking

• Alternative  

 investments

• Investment advisory 

 services

• Electronic trading 

 services

• Retirement portfolios

• Southern Africa

• UK and Europe

• 4Factor equities

• Contrarian

• South African equities

• Frontier
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The integrated annual report has been compiled in accordance with the integrated reporting 

principles contained in the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct set out in the King 

Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2009 (King Code). This report covers all 

our operations across the various geographies in which we operate and has been structured 

to provide stakeholders with relevant financial and non-financial information to enable them to 

obtain a balanced view of our business.
This is the first integrated report we have produced and we acknowledge that local and 

international guidelines on integrated reporting are still at an early stage of development.

Further information is available on our website: www.investec.com

01 Overview of the year.indd   1

2011/06/14   12:20 PM

2011

Investec 

integrated annual report

11
Investec integrated annual report

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

B100680_AR_DLC_cover_297 x 585 FA.pdf   1   2011/06/14   1:24 PM

conceptualise •  actualise • realise

Investec Limited
Annual report 2011

[ Two consecutive years: Investec Limited, 
Investec plc and Investec Bank plc  

[the UK entities] ]

Kumba Iron Ore Limited
Employee report

Kumba Iron Ore Limited
Annual report 2011

Transnet SOC Limited
Annual report 2011

[ Two consecutive years ]

WELL DONE TEAM!
We achieved phenomenal results in 2010. For the 2010 year, our headline earnings had climbed by a 

spectacular 106% from our headline earnings for 2009. This increase was the result of:

• a 92% increase in average export prices

• a 6% increase in our export sales volumes

• achieving our target of a 5% increase in production at Sishen Mine

• containing our unit cash cost increases at the 15% target we set ourselves and

•  beating our production target for the Sishen jig plant with a 28% increase in production year on 

year to 13.3Mt. 

LET’S connectEMPLOYEE REPORT

2010 full-year financial results

KUMBA IRON ORE

Export sales up 6% to 36.1Mt
R25.1 billion operating  profit

Improvement in demand from Europe, Japan and Korea

Sishen Mine production up 5% to 41.3Mt

Kolomela Mine development on schedule and on budget
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Operating expenditure increased by 5,6% to R3,5 billion (2009: R3,3 billion) 

mainly due to the increase in maintenance costs which were in line with plans 

to improve efficiencies and safety measures at all terminals. The effect of 

this increase was minimised by cost-saving initiatives adopted. Consequently, 

EBITDA decreased by 4,0% to R1,6 billion (2009: R1,7 billion).

Transnet Pipelines (TPL)Revenue decreased by 20,0% to R1,2 billion (2009: R1,5 billion) following a 

decision by Nersa to impose a 10,4% tariff decrease for the financial year. 

The impact of the decrease in tariffs has been partially offset by a 3,1% 

growth in petroleum volumes mainly attributable to the 8% increase in refined 

volumes despite the economic downturn and constrained pipeline capacity. In 

addition, based on the Nersa record of decision and applicable IFRS standards 

(ED 2009/8: Rate Regulated Activities) an amount of R146 million has been 

recorded as a further reduction to revenue as it represents a “clawback” in 

terms of the tariff methodology.Operating expenses increased by 12,8% compared to the prior year to  

R468 million as a result of an increase in electricity tariffs and focused 

maintenance on the ageing pipeline network. Consequently EBITDA decreased 

by 32,9% to R703 million (2009: R1 billion).
The Minister of Finance announced in his 2010 Budget speech that the 

Government had approved a petroleum levy on consumers of 7,5 cents per 

litre on both diesel and petrol as a security of supply levy. This levy has been  

approved to fund the additional capacity that was requested by Government  

to ensure security of supply to the inland market in the long term. The levy will 

be paid by the Government to Transnet over a three-year period at R1,5 billion 

per annum commencing in the 2011 financial year.
On 25 March 2010, Nersa granted TPL an 11,86% revenue increase for the 

2010/11 financial year. Also refer to commentary on economic regulation.

Group operating performance – discontinued operations

Businesses and investments that meet the criteria set out in IFRS 5 Non-

current Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations (IFRS 5), 

are classified as “non-current assets held-for-sale” and are reported as 

discontinued operations. Net losses of R516 million recorded in the prior year 

arose from South African Express Airways (Pty) Limited, Autopax Passenger 

Services (Pty) Limited, Shosholoza Meyl and Luxrail.
Group financial positionRevaluation of property, plant and equipment

The accounting policies of the Company require port infrastructure and 

pipeline network assets to be carried at revalued amounts as opposed to 

historic cost. A full revaluation of port infrastructure and the pipeline network 

is conducted every three years with an index revaluation being performed in 

the intervening years. During the current year, an index valuation was applied 

to both the pipeline networks and the port infrastructure.

The carrying value of the pipeline networks, as determined by independent 

experts using the modern equivalent asset methodology, was increased by 

R167 million (2009: R636 million). Based on the applicable valuation methodology, the carrying value of port  

infrastructure required a revaluation of R3,5 billion which was recorded in  

accordance with IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment (2009: R3,5 billion). 

Deferred taxationThe revaluation of property, plant and equipment recorded in other 

comprehensive income as well as the temporary differences arising from the 

execution of the capital investment programme are the primary reasons for 

the deferred taxation liability increasing to R11,4 billion (2009: R8,6 billion).

Cash flows
Cash generated from operations amounted to R16,4 billion (2009:  

R13,5 billion) an increase of 21,7% when compared to the prior year, evidencing 

the ability of the Group to generate strong, sustainable cash flows. Significant 

focus on the management of working capital resulted in an inflow of R3,8 billion 

enabling cash generated from operations after working capital changes to 

increase by 61,9% to R17,6 billion (2009: R10,9 billion).

The cash interest cover ratio at 4,5 times (2009: 4,0 times) remains strong and 

significantly above the required minimum level of 3,0 times. 

Borrowings
A well defined funding strategy has enabled the Group to successfully increase 

its borrowings by R29 billion over the last five years on the strength of 

Transnet’s financial position without any Government guarantees. 

The strong standalone foreign currency credit rating of Transnet of A3/BBB+ 

will enable the Group to successfully fund the capital investment programme. 

Transnet’s funding requirements over the next three years amounts to  

R38,9 billion. It is estimated that the funding requirement for the next year will 

be R17,2 billion, including the refinancing of commercial paper. 

Funding raised for the year amounted to R20 billion including a pre-funding 

buffer of approximately R6 billion. The Company adopted a strategy of pre-

funding its cash flow requirements due to the increase in liquidity risk caused 

by the global economic crisis. The commercial paper programme and long-term bonds continued to be a 

significant source of funding with an amount of R13,5 billion being raised in the 

domestic markets. The Club loan facility concluded in the prior year allowed the 

Group to raise an amount of R2,5 billion.
A key element of the funding strategy is to access export credit agencies (ECA) 

as their support enables a lower cost of borrowing. The Company concluded 

four international funding agreements during the year as detailed below:

•	 A	10-year,	fixed	rate	loan	agreement	with	Finnvera,	an	export	credit	agency	

in Finland (R680 million drawdown);
•	 A	12-year,	floating	rate	loan	agreement	with	the	Japan	Bank	for	International	

Co-operation (R1,9 billion drawdown);
•	 A	 10-year,	 fixed	 rate	 loan	 agreement	 with	 the	 American	 Family	 Life	

Assurance Company (R1,2 billion drawdown); and

•	 A	 15-year,	 fixed	 rate	 loan	 agreement	 with	 the	 Agence	 Francaise	 de	

Developpement (AFD).Borrowings of R9,3 billion were repaid during the year, relating mainly to 

commercial paper and domestic unsecured floating rate loans which matured.

The gearing ratio increased to 38,5% (2009: 36,2%), as expected due to the 

funding of the capital expenditure programme, but remains below the Group’s 

target range of 50%. This demonstrates the significant capacity to raise 

additional funding for future capital expenditure. It is expected that the gearing 

ratio will not exceed the targeted ratio in the medium term.

The Company successfully launched its inaugural US$2 billion Global Medium 

Term Note Programme (GMTN) which was established on the United Kingdom 

Listing Authority on 26 January 2010. This facility will enable the Company to 

further diversify its investor base and allow it to access the international debt 

capital markets thereby reducing its dependency on the domestic markets.

The main sources of funding for the year ahead consist of existing undrawn 

facilities on the above loans, a drawdown under the GMTN programme, export 

credit agency facilities, as well as commercial paper and domestic bonds.

The Company has adequate cash on hand of R7,9 billion (March 2009:  

R5,9 billion) and committed banking facilities of R3,5 billion to meet its current 

commitments. 
Post-retirement benefit obligations 

The Group provides various post-retirement benefits to its active and retired 

employees, including pension, post-retirement medical and other benefits. 

The two defined benefit funds, namely the Transnet Second Defined Benefit 

Fund (TSDBF) and the Transport Pension Fund (TPF) – Transnet Sub-Fund, are 

fully funded with actuarial surpluses of R3,2 billion (2009: R2,8 billion) and  

R1,7 billion (2009: R701 million) respectively. 

Transnet has not recognised any portion of the surplus on these funds as the 

fund rules at present do not allow for the distribution of a surplus. The post-

retirement medical benefit obligation is approximately R1,6 billion (2009:  

R1,9 billion), which is fully provided for.
In addition, Transnet has made a provision of R40 million for an ex gratia 

bonus payment for the TSDBF pensioners. This brings the total amount spent 

by Transnet on bonus payments to R265 million in the past three years for 

TSDBF pensioners. The payment will be made mainly to those pensioners with 

relatively low pensions and long service, as these individuals are unlikely to 

have significant alternative retirement funding income as well as pensioners 

that were previously disadvantaged by the rules of the fund.

Contingencies and commitments
There have been no material movements in contingencies and commitments 

since 30 September 2009.Guarantees
As sole Shareholder in Transnet Limited, the South African Government, 

has guaranteed some of the Group’s borrowings amounting to R11,1 billion  

(2009: R11,7 billion). Capital expenditureThe capital investment expenditure for the year amounted to R18,4 billion 

(2009: R19,3 billion) (excluding borrowing costs). The decrease in capital 

expenditure compared to the prior year can be attributed to the reprioritisation 

of capital projects due to the impact of the recession on volumes and capacity 

requirements. This impacted the projected cash flows of capital projects but 

has not negatively affected service delivery and the meeting of future capacity 

demand. This enabled the Company to remain within the set financial metrics, 

whilst maintaining sufficient capacity to meet the projected market demand. 

An amount of R8,7 billion was spent on maintaining current infrastructure and 

equipment, while R9,7 billion was spent on expanding capacity.

The following key projects were executed in the current year:

•	 Durban	Harbour	entrance	channel	widening	and	deepening	was	completed	

and commissioned in February 2010, ahead of schedule. The entrance was 

widened to 240m and dredged to a depth of -18m chart datum. This will 

enable the new generation larger ships to call at the port;

•	 The	Ngqura	Container	Terminal	commenced	operations	in	October	2009;

•	 The	 Khangela	 Bridge	 in	 Durban	 to	 ease	 traffic	 congestion	 caused	 by	

container trucks on Bayhead Road was completed in November 2009;

•	 The	ore	line	expansion	to	47mt	project	is	near	completion.	However	capacity	

planned for the project has been achieved as evidenced by 2010 volumes of 

44,7mt;
•	 The	Port	Elizabeth	manganese	terminal	refurbishment	has	been	substantially	

completed restoring capacity to 4,2mt from a constrained 2,8mt;

•	 Construction	of	the	New	Multi-Product	Pipeline	has	progressed	despite	the	

regulatory uncertainty. The total estimated project cost has been revised to 

R15,5 billion. Commissioning of the 16” pipeline is expected in 2011 and the 

revised commissioning date for the 24” trunkline is expected in December 

2012.
•	 Locomotive	fleet	acquisition	programme:

– All 50 EMD class 39 locomotives were delivered and deployed in revenue 

generating operations in the GFB of TFR;
– Six of the 110 dual voltage class 19E locomotives were accepted and are 

currently being utilised in operations on the Coal Line. The remaining units 

are planned to be delivered between 2010/11 and 2012/13;

– Three of the 44 class 15E locomotives have been delivered and are 

undergoing acceptance testing, and once completed will be deployed onto 

the iron ore line. The remaining units are planned for delivery over the next 

two years; and– All 100 class 43 locomotives for the GFB are planned for delivery during 

2011/12. 
The capital investment plan for the next five years amounts to  

R93,4 billion of which R34,2 billion will be spent on expanding capacity and  

R59,2 billion will be spent on maintaining existing infrastructure and equipment. 

Approximately 59% is expected to be invested in projects relating to TFR and 

TRE, 26% in TNPA and TPT and 15% in TPL and other projects.

The capital expenditure programme is updated annually as part of Transnet’s 

robust planning and budgeting cycle, The Company is committed to investing 

in infrastructure to provide capacity ahead of demand, provided that such 

investment is commercially viable. Accordingly, Transnet will increase its locomotive and wagon fleet by 15% and 

10% respectively over the next five years thereby creating additional capacity  

for export iron-ore up to 61mt, coal export up to 81mt and GFB to  

110 mt. Container capacity will also be increased from 4,56 million TEUs to  

6,26 million TEUs whilst the completion of the NMPP will increase pipeline 

capacity from 4,4 billion litres to 8,7 billion litres. 

The Company’s infrastructure maintenance plan is aimed at improving 

operational efficiencies by 20% over the next three years.

Competitive supplier development programme (CSDP) 

and BBBEE
Increased emphasis is being placed on the development of the local supplier 

industry through initiatives such as the CSDP, a Government initiative to 

which Transnet is fully committed. Transnet was the first SOE to have its 

CSDP plans approved by the Shareholder Representative and has concluded 

contracts containing CSDP obligations with multinational original equipment 

manufacturers (OEMs). In this regard, Transnet has concluded various 

locomotive contracts with suppliers with a localisation value of approximately 

R1,0 billion. These localisation transactions are designed to have a positive 

impact on unemployment in the country, ensuring the transfer of skills and 

technology with various second and third tier suppliers benefiting. In addition, 

capital leakage is minimised and industrial development is promoted. Transnet 

has also significantly ramped up its BBBEE spend over the past three years to 

R13,5 billion which accounts for 65,4% (2009: 59%) of the total procurement 

spend.

Safety, health and environment
Safety was identified as a key operational challenge for Transnet in the 

previous year and a bold target was set to reduce all safety related incidents 

and costs by 33%. Pleasingly, the cost of safety related incidents as well as the 

number of incidents across the Company have reduced during the year. The cost 

of impairments relating to TFR’s rolling stock have decreased by R79 million 

and the number of derailments have decreased by 207, which has resulted in a 

positive impact on service delivery. 
The disabling injury frequency rate (DIFR) is a measure used by the Group 

to assess the number of disabling injuries to Transnet employees whilst at 

work. The Group’s rolling DIFR as at 31 March 2010 is 0,72 compared to  

1,09 for the same period in the prior year. 
Although one fatality is one too many, there has been a reduction in the number 

of employee fatalities from 13 in the prior year to eight in the current year. 

Overall there is an improvement in safety which is underlined by the 29,3% 

reduction in the Group’s cost of loss for the year. Public fatalities also decreased 

by 12,2% to 173 for the year. Safety initiatives will be continually enhanced to 

achieve a further improvement in the Company’s safety performance. 

Environmental compliance is, and will continue to be, one of the key focus areas 

for the Company. The Company aims to be an exemplar company in terms of 

environmental compliance. Corporate social investment (CSI)
Transnet considers corporate social investment an integral part of doing 

business in South Africa and the Company remains committed to being a 

responsible corporate and social citizen. The Company’s total CSI spending 

amounted to R245 million. The Transnet Foundation (Foundation) is mandated 

to channel Transnet’s corporate social investment through sustainable, 

integrated socio-economic programmes. The Foundation has annual spending of 

approximately R85 million on various projects. One of the Foundation’s flagship 

initiatives is the Transnet Phelophepa Primary Health Care Train (Phelophepa). 

Phelophepa is a mobile clinic which provides affordable and accessible primary 

healthcare services to disadvantaged rural communities of South Africa.

The Phelophepa, dubbed the “miracle train”, travels into the rural heartland 

of South Africa for 36 weeks of the year. It delivers much needed healthcare 

services to areas where there is often only one doctor for every 5 000 people 

and where healthcare services are either non-existent or vastly inadequate. 

During the year, 245 000 patients benefited from Phelophepa’s services. The 

building and refurbishment of a new Phelophepa train at a cost of R88 million 

has commenced and is expected to start serving patients from January 2012.

Compliance with legislation
To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Company has, during 

the year, complied, in all material respects, with all legislation and regulations 

applicable to it, including without limitation, the Companies Act, No. 61 of 1973 

(as amended), the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) (as amended), the 

Treasury Regulations and the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act No. 58 of 1962).

Public Finance Management Act (PFMA)
In terms of the PFMA materiality framework as approved by the Shareholder 

Representative, the Board is pleased to report that no individual items of 

fruitless and wasteful expenditure can be reported.

However, there is an item of alleged irregular expenditure that has to be 

reported on in terms of the National Treasury Practice Note No. 4 of 2008/09, 

as noted below.
Reportable irregularity in terms of the Auditing Profession Act 

On 15 February 2010, the Company’s external auditors reported an irregularity 

in terms of section 45(1) of the Auditing Profession Act, 2005 (No. 26 of 2005) 

to the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors. 

The irregularity related to the conclusion of a locomotive contract amounting  

to R867 million by the Chief Executive of TFR contrary to the terms and 

conditions determined by the Board resolution applicable to that contract. This 

resulted in alleged irregular expenditure, as contemplated in the PFMA, and 

fruitless and wasteful expenditure in the amount of R18 million. In addition, 

there are certain outstanding matters that could potentially increase this 

amount. 
The Board is confident that appropriate corrective action has been taken and 

that the alleged irregularity is no longer taking place. The corrective action 

taken includes the allocation of engineering work to TRE as required by the 

Board resolution and also the institution of a disciplinary process against the 

Chief Executive of TFR. In addition, the Board is satisfied that all reasonable steps have been taken to 

prevent further losses to the Company. 
Transnet considers its continued success to be dependent on the consistent 

enforcement of, and adherence to, principles of the highest standards of 

corporate governance and corporate ethics. The Company is committed to 

handling governance breaches in a firm and expeditious manner. It is regrettable 

that this firm position, especially Transnet’s commitment to due process, has 

attracted considerable negative publicity for the Company. 

Economic regulationEconomic regulation requires judicious and very careful execution as it impacts 

on the long-term infrastructure investments of the Company and specifically 

the Ports and Pipeline businesses. The current policy and economic regulation 

framework is not designed to facilitate the optimal development of the 

freight transport network. The operational and infrastructural challenges are 

significant, requiring a policy and regulatory environment that takes a strategic 

long-term view of the business and the impacts of its current decisions 

on future economic growth. It must incentivise large-scale infrastructure 

investments ahead of demand. Without this holistic view, Transnet’s ability to 

raise affordable capital and to enter into sustainable partnerships with the 

private sector will be severely constrained, to the detriment of South Africa’s 

economic growth. Establishing greater policy certainty with Government and 

creating certainty in the economic regulation methodologies of Nersa and the 

development of an appropriate regulatory methodology to be applied to TNPA 

are therefore key areas of focus in the year ahead. 
Group accounting policies

The condensed financial information has been prepared in compliance with 

International Accounting Standard (IAS): 34 Interim Financial Reporting  

and the Companies Act 1973 (as amended). The financial information presented 

has been prepared using accounting policies that comply with International 

Financial Reporting Standards. The accounting policies are consistent with those 

applied in the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009,  

except for the changes as required by IAS 1: Presentation of Financial  

Statements. This standard now requires the disclosure of a Statement of  

comprehensive income. Consequently, certain income and expense items  

previously reported in the Statement of recognised income and expense  

will now be included in the Statement of comprehensive income. In addition, a 

Statement of changes in equity has also been disclosed in terms of the revised 

standard.
Any other new standards and interpretations issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board not yet effective for the period under review will 

have no impact on the Group’s financial results.
Events after the reporting period date

There have been no events after the reporting period date that would have a 

material impact on reported results. However, the following should be noted:

Strike action
On 10 May 2010 organised labour embarked on a protected strike after  

rejecting an 11% wage increase and declaring a wage dispute with the Company. 

The strike ended on 27 May 2010 with the unions accepting the Company’s  

11% wage offer with a once-off ex gratia payment to all employees. This action 

has affected operations and service delivery resulting in significant backlog in 

certain areas of the business. This is expected to take up to two months to clear.

External auditor’s opinion
The Group’s external auditors have issued their opinion on the Group’s annual 

financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2010. The audit was 

conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. They have 

expressed an unqualified opinion on the annual financial statements from which 

the condensed financial statements were derived. However, this audit opinion 

includes an Other Matter relating to a reportable irregularity in terms of 

section 45(1) of the Auditing Profession Act, 2005 (No. 26 of 2005). A copy of 

their audit report is available for inspection at the Company’s registered office. 

Any reference to future financial performance included in these condensed 

financial statements has not been reviewed or reported on by the Group’s 

external auditors.
Board of DirectorsThree non-executive Directors retired from the Board on 11 August 2009. 

These were:
•	 Mr	FTM	Phaswana;	•	 Dr	I	Abedian;	and•	 Mr	BT	Ngcuka.

Due to circumstances beyond the control of the Board, the positions of Acting 

Chairman, Acting Group Chief Executive and Acting Chief Financial Officer, in 

particular, have gone on for a period far in excess of what was envisaged by 

the Board. However, the Board is pleased to report that the individuals who 

have been appointed to the positions have proven both able and committed 

to Transnet’s continued success and the acting positions have not adversely 

impacted the effective management of the Company. 
ProspectsThe economy continues to show signs of slow recovery. Consequently, demand 

for commodities and container volumes has strengthened. Accordingly, the 

Board expects continued volume growth for the year ending 31 March 2011.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors
Prof GK Everingham  

CF Wells

Acting Chairman 
Acting Group Chief Executive

9 June 2010 
9 June 2010 

Gearing increased to  38,5% in line with expectations
Capital expenditure  decreased by 4,4%  to R18,4 billion

Disabling injury frequency rate 
improved to 0,72 times from 

1,09 times BBBEE spend of  R13,5 billion – 65,4% of total procurement
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Income statement
For the year ended
(in Rand million)

31 March 
2010

 31 March 
2009

Continuing operations

Revenue  35 610  33 592 
Net operating expenses excluding depreciation and 
amortisation  (21 201)  (20 392)
Profit from operations before depreciation, amortisation  
and items listed below (EBITDA)  14 409  13 200 

Depreciation and amortisation  (6 089)  (4 779)

Profit from operations before the items listed below:  8 320  8 421 

Impairment of assets  (778)  (324)

Post-retirement benefit obligation costs  (180)  (436)

Fair value adjustments  (18)  941 

Income from associates and joint ventures  5  82 

Profit from operations before net finance costs  7 349  8 684 

Finance costs  (3 014)  (2 233)

Finance income  578  267 

Profit before taxation  4 913  6 718 

Taxation  (1 722)  (1 674)

Profit for the year from continuing operations  3 191  5 044 

Discontinued operations

Loss from discontinued operations  (128)  (516)

Profit for the year  3 063  4 528 

Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended
(in Rand million)

31 March 
2010

 31 March 
2009

Profit for the year  3 063  4 528 
Other comprehensive income 4 154 3 794
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  4 (22)
Gains on revaluations 4 124  4 442
Cash flow hedges  (109) – 
Actuarial gain/(loss) on post-retirement benefit obligations  135  (626)

Taxation relating to components of other comprehensive 
income  (1 095)  (949)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxation  3 059  2 845 

Total comprehensive income for the year  6 122 7 373

Statement of financial position
As at
(in Rand million)

31 March 
2010

 31 March 
2009

ASSETS

Non-current assets  120 845  103 417 
Property, plant and equipment  113 579  96 459 
Investment properties  6 604  5 961 
Intangible assets  421  431 
Investments in associates and joint ventures  21  24 
Derivative financial assets  11  178 
Long-term loans and advances  37  77 
Other investments and long-term financial assets  172  287 
Current assets  18 040  15 117 
Inventories 2 048  2 589 
Trade and other receivables  5 859  5 503 
Derivative financial assets  28  335 
Other short-term investments  1 670  436 
Cash and cash equivalents  7 918  5 880 
Assets classified as held-for-sale  517  374 

Total assets  138 885  118 534 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves  64 456  58 334 
Issued capital  12 661  12 661 
Reserves  51 795  45 673 

Non-current liabilities  59 011  43 198 
Post-retirement benefit obligations  2 022  2 324 
Long-term borrowings  42 736  29 758 
Derivative financial liabilities  366  18 
Long-term provisions 2 523  2 509 
Deferred taxation liabilities  11 364  8 589 

Current liabilities  15 418  17 002 
Trade payables and accruals  7 384  6 491 
Short-term borrowings  4 698  7 255 
Current taxation liability  171  854 
Derivative financial liabilities  183  109 
Short-term provisions  2 967  2 279 
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held-
for-sale  15  14 

Total equity and liabilities  138 885  118 534 

Statement of cash flows
For the year ended
(in Rand million)

31 March 
2010

 31 March 
2009

Cash flows from operating activities  12 092  7 400 
Cash generated from operations  16 426  13 498 
Changes in working capital  1 145  (2 647)
Cash generated from operations after working capital changes  17 571  10 851 
Finance costs  (4 524)  (2 996)
Finance income  580  269 
Taxation paid  (725)  (703)
Settlement of post-retirement benefit obligations  (307)  (317)
Derivatives settled and raised  (503)  296 
Cash flows utilised in investing activities  (20 408)  (19 084)
Investments to maintain operations  (8 569)  (8 498)
Investments to expand operations  (9 641)  (10 884)
Changes in investments and loans and advances  (2 198)  298 
Cash flows from financing activities  10 355  11 587 
Borrowings raised  19 696  30 479 
Borrowings repaid  (9 341)  (18 892)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2 039  (97)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  5 905  6 002 
Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  7 944  5 905 

Headline earnings summarised reconciliation
For the year ended
(in Rand million)

31 March 
2010

 31 March 
2009

Profit for the year 3 063  4 528 

Profit on the disposal of property, plant and equipment  (63)  (53)

Total remeasurements  289  (798)

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment and losses from 
discontinued operations  (13) 370 

Investment property fair value adjustments  (276)  (1 376)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment  752  205 

(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of loss-making 
subsidiaries and associates (174)  3 

Total taxation effects of adjustments  (146)  154 
Headline earnings 3 143  3 831 

Discontinued operations (net of taxation)
The (loss)/profit from discontinued operations, including loss on disposal of discontinued operations and impairments is analysed as follows: 

For the year ended Total Disposal groups Other

(in Rand million)  31 March 2010 31 March 2009 31 March 2010 31 March 2009  31 March 2010 31 March 2009

(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations  (141)  (146)  (141)  (355) –  209 

(Loss)/profit on disposal of discontinued operations –  (257) –  (340) –  83 

Reversal of impairments/(impairments) – lower of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell  13  (113)  (2)  (36) 15  (77)

(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations  (128)  (516)  (143)  (731)  15  215 

Segment information

Transnet Freight Rail Transnet Rail Engineering Transnet National Ports 
Authority Transnet Port Terminals Transnet Pipelines Total reportable segments Other* Total Transnet

For the year ended
(in Rand million) 

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

31 March 
2010

31 March 
2009

External revenue  20 599  18 427  1 280  1 405  6 839  6 573  5 154  5 036  1 170  1 462  35 042  32 903  568  689  35 610  33 592 

Internal revenue  226  256  6 935  6 823  622  537  2  1  1  1  7 786  7 618  (7 786)  (7 618) –  –  

Total revenue  20 825  18 683  8 215  8 228  7 461  7 110  5 156  5 037  1 171  1 463  42 828  40 521  (7 218)  (6 929)  35 610  33 592 

Earnings before interest, taxation, 
depreciation and amortisation  7 394  5 673  670  764  5 573  5 251  1 621  1 688  703  1 048  15 961  14 424  (1 552)  (1 224)  14 409  13 200 

Total assets***  46 827  40 996  6 286  6 145  51 110  44 686  12 830  11 088  12 301  9 183  129 354  112 098 9 014  6 062  138 368  118 160 

Total liabilities***  27 762  24 470  3 797  4 059  26 086  22 894  7 698  6 920  8 046  5 284  73 389  63 627  1 025  (3 441)  74 414  60 186 

Capital expenditure**  9 726  8 593  376  568  3 231  4 237  2 368  3 144  3 067  2 772  18 768  19 314 (327)  (28)  18 441  19 286 

Cash generated from operations after 
working capital changes  8 540  3 457  641  341  5 267  5 446  1 894  1 768  955  1 428  17 297  12 440  274  (1 589)  17 571  10 851 

*    Other includes other segments, inter-unit eliminations and consolidation adjustments.
**  Capital expenditure excludes the effects of borrowing costs, includes capitalised finance leases and capitalised decommissioning liabilities.
*** Excludes assets and liabilities held-for-sale.

Statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 
(in Rand million) Issued capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Foreign 
currency

translation 
reserve

Actuarial gains
and losses

Cash flow
hedging  
reserve Other

Retained
earnings Total

Opening balance as at 1 April 2008  12 661  17 238  43  2 845 –  249  17 925  50 961 
Total comprehensive income for the year (net of taxation) –   3 318  (22)  (451) – –   4 528  7 373 
Transfer out of distributable reserves (net of taxation) –  4 – – – –  (4) –
Balances at 31 March 2009  12 661  20 560  21  2 394 –   249  22 449  58 334 
Total comprehensive income for the year (net of taxation) – 3 037  4  97  (79) – 3 063 6 122
Transfer out of distributable reserves (net of taxation) –  (1) – 4 – –  (3) –
Balances at 31 March 2010  12 661 23 596  25  2 495  (79)  249  25 509 64 456

6,0% to  
R35,6 billion
Revenue from continuing 
operations

9,2% to  
R14,4 billion
EBITDA from continuing 
operations

61,9% to  
R17,6 billion
Cash generated from operations 
after working capital changes

32,4% to 
R3,1 billion
Profit for the year

Commentary
Group operating performance – continuing operations 
Revenue for the current year increased by 6,0% to R35,6 billion (2009: R33,6 billion). The increase 
was achieved despite the negative impact of the global economic downturn on commodity, container 
and freight volumes. Export iron-ore volumes increased to record levels of 44,7mt in line with 
customer contractual commitments. General Freight Business (GFB) volumes decreased by 8,0% 
compared to the prior year, however significantly, the market share for containers on rail increased 
by 5,7%. The export coal line has performed poorly since 2005 and its operational turnaround is 
now receiving significant focus which will enable an improved operating performance leading to 
increased volumes going forward. Container volumes decreased by 4,5% compared to the prior year,  
due to the economic environment, which negatively impacted port revenues. Furthermore, economic 
regulation also negatively impacted revenue growth as pipeline tariffs were decreased by the National 
Energy Regulator of South Africa (Nersa).

The uncertain economic environment required the Company to be dynamically managed with the business 
focusing on operational efficiencies and cash flow management in order to maintain financial stability. A 
robust cost-cutting exercise implemented at the onset of the economic crisis resulted in a reduction of 
approximately R1,9 billion of costs compared to planned expenditure, notwithstanding high increases 
in input costs such as electricity and fuel. Consequently, net operating costs increased by only 4,0% to  
R21,2 billion (2009: R20,4 billion) reflecting significant operational efficiency gains. This achievement 
enabled the Company to avoid any retrenchments during the year.

Accordingly, earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) increased by  
9,2% to R14,4 billion (2009: R13,2 billion) resulting in an improvement in the EBITDA margin to  
40,5% (2009: 39,3%). 

Depreciation and amortisation of assets for the year increased by 27,4% to R6,1 billion (2009: R4,8 billion). 
This increase is due to the significant ramp up in capital investments over the last five years, amounting to 
approximately R71,8 billion, as well as the revaluation of port infrastructure facilities and pipeline network 
assets. This trend is expected to continue over the next five years.

As a result, profit from operations after depreciation and amortisation decreased by 1,2% to R8,3 billion, 
from R8,4 billion in the prior year.

Post-retirement benefit obligation costs are actuarially assessed every six months in accordance with  
IAS 19, and adjusted accordingly. The lower cost of R180 million (2009: R436 million) in the year is due to 
a provision of R500 million that was raised in the prior year for restructuring of the SATS pensioner’s post-
retirement medical subsidy.

Impairment of assets amounted to R778 million (2009: R324 million). This impairment charge arose 
primarily from the impairment of feasibility costs previously capitalised of R401 million and impairments of 
trade and other receivables amounting to R145 million. 

Net fair value losses of R18 million (2009: R941 million gains) were recorded during the year. These relate 
primarily to the ‘mark to market’ of derivative financial instruments amounting to R382 million (2009:  
R423 million) which the Group holds to hedge financial risks emanating from the capital investment 
programme. To the extent that the fair value hedges meet the effectiveness criteria as detailed in IAS 39, 
the ‘mark to market’ of these derivative instruments is recorded in the statement of financial position. 
Consequently, the Company does not expect these losses to recur. Fair value gains from investment 
property revaluations of R276 million (2009: R1,4 billion) offset these losses. The decrease compared to 
the prior year is due to the lease commercialisation process undertaken in terms of the National Ports Act 
which increased rentals in the prior year.

Accordingly, profit from operations before net finance costs of R7,3 billion (2009: R8,7 billion) reflected a 
decrease of 15,4% when compared to the prior year. 

Finance costs increased by 35,0% to R3,0 billion (2009: R2,2 billion) in line with expectations and results 
from the execution of the borrowing programme to fund the increase in capital expenditure. Capitalised 
borrowing costs amounted to R1,5 billion (2009: R764 million) and will continue to increase with the 
execution of the capital expenditure programme. Finance income increased to R578 million during the year 
and is attributable to the increase in cash balances which formed part of the Group’s pre-funding strategy in 
response to the increased liquidity risk in global markets.

The taxation charge for the year amounted to R1,7 billion (2009: R1,7 billion), comprising a current 
taxation charge of R799 million (2009: R739 million) and deferred taxation charge of R923 million  
(2009: R935 million). The effective taxation rate for the Group at 36,0% (2009: 24,9%) is above the 
corporate taxation rate of 28%, mainly as a result of items not deductible for taxation purposes. 

Profit for the year from continuing operations amounted to R3,2 billion (2009: R5,0 billion).

Commentary on operating divisions

Transnet Freight Rail (TFR)

Revenue increased by 11,8% to R20,6 billion (2009: R18,4 billion) compared to the prior year. Export iron 
ore volumes increased by 21,5% to 44,7mt (2009: 36,8 mt) in the current year which represents an increase 
of 41,0% since 2005. The increase in volumes can be attributed to the significant capital investment; 
operational efficiency improvements and the implementation of dual loading cranes at the ports. Export coal 
volumes decreased by 0,2% to 61,8mt (2009: 61,9mt) mainly due to operational issues that were experienced 
by TFR, as well as the delays experienced in the commissioning of the Richards Bay Coal Terminal expansion. 
A detailed plan has been developed to address the TFR issues and the benefits are already evident with a 
record volume of 1,5mt per week being achieved in the final quarter of the year. Export coal tariffs were 
increased in line with contractual commitments with customers to achieve a fair return on invested capital. 
The GFB was negatively impacted by the economic downturn resulting in a decrease in volumes to 72,1mt 
compared to 78,4 mt in the prior year. This was off-set by an increase in market share of containers on rail; an 
effective yield and mix management programme and significant volume recovery in manganese, magnetite, 
steel and rock phosphate in the latter half of the year resulting in higher than planned revenues.

A concerted effort was made to contain costs resulting in net operating expenses increasing by only 3,2% to  
R13,4 billion when compared to the prior year. This resulted in a 30,3% improvement in EBITDA to  
R7,4 billion (2009 : R5,7 billion). 

Transnet Rail Engineering (TRE)

TRE’s internal revenue increased slightly by 1,6% to R6,9 billion (2009: R6,8 billion) compared to the prior year. 
Maintenance and refurbishment programmes for locomotives and wagons focusing on the availability and 
reliability of rolling stock continues to improve and impact positively on the service delivery of TFR.

The external revenue of TRE decreased by 8,9% to R1,3 billion (2009: R1,4 billion) mainly due to the lower 
number of coach upgrades performed for PRASA. The Operating division has identified numerous cost 
reduction and service-optimisation initiatives to target savings, particularly from the Lean Six Sigma 
manufacturing process.

Transnet National Ports Authority (TNPA)

Revenue increased by 4,1% to R6,8 billion (2009: R6,6 billion). This increase is attributable to an average 
tariff increase of 6,7% offset by net lower cargo related activity of 4,5%. During the current year iron-ore 
volumes and manganese export volumes increased by 35% and 18% respectively. These were offset by 
negative growth in container and automotive volumes of 4,5% and 24% respectively, as a result of the global 
economic downturn. The greenfields Port of Ngqura began operation in October 2009 and is an exciting 
development for South Africa.

Operating costs increased by 1,6% to R1,9 billion compared to the prior year due to operational efficiency 
and cost-saving initiatives implemented during the year. With the introduction of quadruple shifts for pilots 
and berthing crews in certain ports as well as the increase of the marine fleet, operational efficiencies 
improved. Consequently, EBITDA increased by 6,1% to R5,6 billion (2009: R5,3 billion).

A tariff increase for 2010/11 of 4,42% was awarded in January 2010, which is significantly below the increase 
requested in the tariff application of 19,13%. Also refer to commentary on economic regulation.

Transnet Port Terminals (TPT)

Revenue increased marginally by 2,4% to R5,2 billion (2009: R5,0 billion). This increase was mainly due 
to increased bulk volumes, specifically export iron ore and manganese partially offset by decreased  
container and automotive volumes. Record export iron ore loading rates have been achieved at the Saldanha 
Iron Ore Terminal as a result of the implementation of dual ship loading, increasing the average rate to  
6 341 tons per hour during the year (2009: 5 954 tons per hour). Container handling rates, however, remain 
far too low, and is receiving priority attention and hence significant improvements are expected. The Port of 
Ngqura handled 78 423 TEUs up to March 2010.

Audited condensed consolidated results for the year ended 31 March 2010

Switzerland

Mocoh’s main trading office is in Geneva, which places 

us at the heart of the major energy trading community in 

Europe and the traditional centre for asset management.

United Kingdom

The Mocoh SA subsidiary office in London puts us at the 

centre of the financial, shipping and insurance markets 

and enables us to best coordinate all risk-management 

initiatives for the group.

Turkey
Mocoh’s presence in Turkey enables us to maximise on 

the opportunities in the Mediterranean, as well as the 

business in the Caspian, Iran and Iraq markets.

The branch office also manages the exportation of 

minerals and metals to our clients in the Far East.
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Contact details

Switzerland

Michael Hacking (CEO)

Tel: +41 22 310 0469

Fax: +41 22 310 5245

Email: michael.hacking@mocoh.ch

United Kingdom

David Kennedy

Tel: +44 20 7730 9200

Fax: +44 20 7881 1393

Email: david.kennedy@mocoh.com

Turkey

Esra Koseoglu (Director)

Tel: +90 212 215 5259

Fax: +90 533 344 4246

Email: esra.koseoglu@mocoh.com

mocoh

Finance

Wayne Bailey

Nick Boyce

Kate Sokolova
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Valerie Lenard

Allan Toocaram

Trading

Samy Saba

Chris Dyason

Shipping

James Van Oppen

Administration

Patsy Shannon

Chief Operating Officer

Antoine Delay

Mineral Thoughts partners

Contact details

Wendy De Goede

Mineral Thoughs Managing Director

Tel: 
+27 11 482 5721

Mobile: +27 83 631 3316

Email: wendy.degoede@mocoh.com

Manganese

Mineral Specific Information

Mn 

36% – 42% 

Fe 

10% maximum

SiO2
 

13% maximum 

P 

0.08% maximum 

S 

0.08% maximum 

CaO 
16% maximum 

Al2
O3

 
3% maximum 

MgO 
5% maximum

Size 
 6mm – 75mm 90% minimum  

or 3mm – 30mm 90% minimum

Quantity 
20 000mt per month

OR

Mn 

30% minimum

Fe 

20% minimum

SiO2
 

15% maximum

Al2
O3

 
10% maximum

P 

0.08% maximum

S 

0.08% maximum

Size 
 6mm – 75mm 90% minimum   

or 10mm – 100mm 90% minimum

Quantity 
20 000mt per month
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  

OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share

capital

R’000

Share

premium
R’000

Retained

earnings

R’000

Share- 

based 

payment

reserve

R’000

Total

R’000

Balance at 1 March 2008

368
26 730

21 492

–
48 590

Total comprehensive loss  

for the year

–

–
(3 671)

–
(3 671)

Balance at 28 February 2009
368

26 730
17 821

–
44 919

Total comprehensive income 

for the year

–

–
13 618

–
13 618

Transactions with owners 

recorded in equity –Treasury 

Shares held by Verimark 

(Proprietary) Limited

(12)
(1 626)

–

–
(1 638)

Balance at 28 February 2010
356

25 104
31 439

–
56 899

Total comprehensive income 

for the period

–

–
10 526

–
10 526

Transactions with owners 

recorded in equity –  

Employee share scheme 

– share-based payment 

transaction

–

–

–
196

196

Dividend paid

–

–
(6 412)

–
(6 412)

Balance at 31 August 2010
356

25 104
35 553

196
61 209

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  

OF CASH FLOWS Unaudited

six months

ended

August 

2010

R’000

Unaudited

six months

ended

August 

2009

R’000

Audited

12 months

ended

February 

2010

R’000

Net cash (outflows)/inflows from 

operating activities

(25 213)
(16 530)

38 468

Cash (utilised)/generated by  

operations

(2 340)
(10 343)

45 593

Dividends paid

(6 412)

–

–

Finance income

12

1
3 981

Finance costs

(3 601)
(6 185)      

(11 103)

Taxation paid

(12 872)

(3)

(3)

Cash outflows from investing 

activities

(5 653)
(4 335)

(9 892)

Acquisition of plant and equipment  

to maintain operations

(5 606)
(4 118)

(7 503)

Replacement of plant and  

equipment

–

–

(493)

Acquisition of intangible assets  

to maintain operations

(54)

(228)
(288)

Repurchase of own shares

–

–
(1 637)

Proceeds from disposal of plant  

and equipment

7

11

29

Cash inflows from financing  

activities

225

4 682
1 958

(Increase)/decrease in loans  

receivable 

(312)
2 908

232

Interest-bearing liabilities raised

1 288

2 048
2 851

Interest-bearing liabilities repaid

(751)

(274)
(1 125)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash  

and cash equivalents

(30 641)
(16 183)

30 534

Cash and cash equivalents  

at beginning of period

13 740
(16 794)

(16 794)

Cash and cash equivalents  

at end of period

(16 901)
(32 977)

13 740

DETERMINATION OF ATTRIBUTABLE EARNINGS

AND HEADLINE EARNINGS
Unaudited

six months

ended

August 

2010

R’000

Unaudited

six months

ended

August 

2009

R’000

Audited

12 months

ended

February 

2010

R’000

Attributable profit/(loss) (after tax)

10 526
(11 165)

13 618

Loss/(profit) on sale of fixed assets

36

(8)

(13)

Headline earnings/(loss)

10 562
(11 173)

13 605

Shares in issue

114 272 328
114 272 328

114 272 328

Treasury shares – VEET

(4 000 000)
(4 000 000)

(4 000 000)

Shares held by subsidiary

(3 400 000)

–
(3 400 000)

Number of shares at period end
106 872 328

110 272 328
106 872 328

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

9,8

(10,1)
12,4

Headline earnings/(loss) per share

9,8

(10,1)
12,4

Diluted basic earnings/(loss)  

per share

9,7

(10,1)
12,4

Diluted headline earnings per share

9,7

(10,1)
12,4

Michael van Straaten, CEO of Verimark, said: “It gives me great pleasure to 

report the results produced over the last six-month period. Turnover growth of 

56% and a turnaround from a loss before tax of R11 million to a profit before tax 

of R17 million for the same period this year, which we believe is an exceptional 

achievement.

It is noteworthy that a complete change in the Company’s top management 

(excluding myself) has re-affirmed Verimark’s position as the market leader 

in the ‘direct response through retail’ sector, both locally and internationally.”

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Headline earnings per share and earnings per share attributable to shareholders 

for the six months ended 31 August 2010 were 9,8 cents per share compared with a 

headline loss per share and loss per share attributable to shareholders of 10,1 cents 

for the previous comparable period.

As indicated in the trading statement issued on 14 October 2010, the turnaround in 

the Group’s results was due to the continued positive trend in trading and profitability 

reported for the final six months of the previous financial year.

This excellent performance is a result of improved operational efficiencies and the  

re-ignition of Verimark’s entrepreneurial spirit brought about by a complete overhaul 

in top management over a three-year period.

Turnover growth (56%) was mainly attributable to:
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promotional activities (Verimark was rated as the 4th largest TV-advertiser in South 

Africa in a recent AC Nielsen survey); and
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Partner stores as well as growth in the Company’s own Verimark Direct stores.

Gross profit improved on the back of an increase in sales volumes. In addition, the 

increased number of Company-owned stores had a positive impact on the overall 

margin as full retail selling prices are achieved in these stores. This increase in margin 

is partly offset by an increase in the cost of operating these new stores.

Total operating costs increased mainly due to the increased sales volumes. Overall, 

operational expenditure has been well controlled and has improved as a percentage 

of sales. Foreign exchange losses amounted to R2,2 million when compared to  

R4,4 million for the prior period. These losses were as a result of fair value adjustments 

on open FECs and foreign exchange losses due to the strengthening in the Rand over 

the prior six months and are included in finance costs.

The Company entered into a Share-based Payment Scheme with certain key employees 

during the period under review. The requisite JSE and shareholder approvals were 

obtained for this Scheme at the Annual General Meeting and Extraordinary General 

Meeting on 8 July. This scheme has been treated under IFRS 2 in the Group accounts.

In summary, the financial improvement of the Group  over the interim period, seen in 

conjunction with the record setting results of the previous six months (end of financial 

year February 2010), confirms that a successful and sustainable turnaround has been 

achieved by Verimark.

INTERIM DIVIDEND

Despite the improvement in the overall trading results for the six months ended  

31 August 2010, the Board considers it prudent not to declare a dividend, due to the 

Group entering its peak trading period and therefore the Group’s cash is required to be 

retained in the business in order to fund the current growth. Dividend payments will 

resume in accordance with the existing payout policy should the current trend continue 

for the remainder of the financial year.  

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies applied for the six months are consistent, in all material 

respects, with those used in the Annual Financial Statements of the prior periods, 

and have been prepared in accordance with recognition and measurement criteria 

of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the presentation and 

disclosure requirements of International Accounting Standards 34, Interim Financial 

Reporting, as well as AC 500 as issued by the Accounting Practices Board, the Listings 

Requirements of the JSE Limited and Schedule 4 of the Companies Act 61, 1973 as 

amended. 

SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

The Directors previously considered the implications of IFRS 8 Operating Segments 

and are still o
f the opinion that the operations of the Group are substantially similar 

to one another and that the risks and returns of these operations are likewise similar. 

Resource allocation and the management of the operation are performed on an 

aggregated basis, and as such the Group is considered to be a single aggregated 

business and therefore there is no additional reporting required in terms of IFRS 8.                                                            

CHANGES TO THE BOARD

There have been no changes to the Board of Directors during the period under review.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No events material to the understanding of this report have occurred in the period 

between the period-end date and the date of this report.

PROSPECTS

The Group’s prospects for the future look positive and it is expected that the growth in 

revenue will continue, but at a lower rate. Over the previous twelve month period, the 

new management team not only successfully turned the business around, but more 

impressively delivered growth in revenue and profitability at an exceptional level.

The increased number of new innovative product introductions, further increases 

in trading space and prominence and the opening of a number of new stores; all 

supported by television advertising and other Verimark promotional activities, should 

assist the Company in achieving its growth projections for the current financial year.

Given the  gratifying results  of the last twelve months, the Group is committed to and 

confident in its ability to not only sustain its recent performance, but to  continue its 

success record that has been built over the last thirty three years.

The interim results for the period ended 31 August 2010 have not been reviewed or 

audited by the Company’s auditors.

On behalf of the Board

Michael van Straaten 

Jeremy Thomas 

Johannesburg

Chief Executive Officer 

Financial Director 

19 October 2010

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  

OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unaudited

six months

ended

August 

2010

R’000

Unaudited

six months

ended

August 

2009

R’000

Audited

12 months

ended

February 

2010

R’000

Revenue

200 732
129 033

347 511

Operating profit/(loss) before net 

finance expense and taxation 

21 216
(4 346)

28 266

Finance income

12

1
4 268

Finance expense

(4 182)
(6 820)

(12 382)

Profit/(loss) before tax

17 046
(11 165)

20 152 

Income tax

(6 520)

–
(6 534)

Profit/(loss) for the period

10 526
(11 165)

13 618

Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income  

attributable to owners of the  

Company

10 526
(11 165)

13 618

Earnings per share (cents)

9,8

(10,1)
12,4

Headline earnings per share (cents)

9,8

(10,1)
12,4

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  

OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Unaudited

six months

ended

August 

2010

R’000

Unaudited

six months

ended

August 

2009

R’000

Audited

12 months

ended

February 

2010

R’000

ASSETS

Plant and equipment

12 105

7 792
9 263

Intangible assets

14 264
14 313

14 286

Loans receivable

312

239

–

Deferred taxation asset

2 382

1 642
2 382

Non-current assets

29 063
23 986

25 931

Inventories

67 285
39 661

45 202

Trade and other receivables

51 448
56 481

51 966

Prepayments

684

366

191

Short-term portion of loans  

receivable

466

459

466

Bank and cash balances

440

408
13 740

Current assets

120 323
97 375

111 565

Total assets

149 386
121 361

137 496

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital

356

368

356

Share premium

25 104
26 730

25 104

Share-based payment reserve

196

–

–

Retained earnings

35 553

6 656
31 439

Equity attributable to the equity  

holders of the parent

61 209
33 754

56 899

Preference share liability

–
13 916

–

Interest-bearing liabilities

6 906

6 478
6 632

Non-current liabilitie
s

6 906
20 394

6 632

Trade and other payables

45 893
31 635

50 138

Preference share liability

14 832

–
14 491

Shareholders for dividend

–

42

42

Short-term portion of interest- 

bearing liabilities

1 997

1 864
1 733

Bank overdraft

17 341
33 385

–

Taxation payable

1 208

287
7 561

Current liabilitie
s

81 271
67 213

73 965

Total equity and liabilitie
s

149 386
121 361

137 496

Verimark Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

Registration Number: 1998/006957/06

Share Code: VMK

ISIN:  ZAE000068011

(“Verimark” or “the Group”)

Directors: 

 Dr JT Motlatsi (Chairman)*, MJ van Straaten (Chief Executive 

Officer), JE Thomas (Financial Director), JM Pieterse*

 

*Independent non-executive

Company Secretary: 
SJ Preller

Registered office: 
 67 CR Swart Drive, Corner CR Swart Drive and Freda Road, 

Bromhof Extension 48, Randburg 2194

Postal address: 
Verimark Holdings Limited, PO Box 78260, Sandton 2146

Email address: 
investors@verimark.co.za

Transfer secretaries: Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited  

Auditors: 

KPMG Incorporated

Sponsor: 

Grindrod Bank Limited

www.verimark.co.za

 Continued increase in new 

product introductions

 Continued growth in 

Retail and Verimark Direct 

footprint and revenues

 Changes in management 

showing sustainability of 

improved trading results

UNAUDITED

INTERIM RESULTS

for the six months ended 31 August 2010

Revenue up 56% to

R200,7 million

(2009: R129,0 million)

Profit before tax

R17,0 million

(2009: Loss R11,1 million)

Basic EPS at 

R9,8 cents

(2009: Loss per share 10,1 cents)

Headline EPS at 

R9,8 cents

(2009: Loss per share 10,1 cents)

HIGHLIGHTS
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CHIEF 

EXECUTIVE 

OFFICER’S 

REPORT

The outstanding growth recorded in sales of 38% in the previous 

financial year continued durin
g the year under re

view. A furth
er 

33% rise in sales this year resulted in Verim
ark deliverin

g 

its best s
ales perfo

rm
ance in

 its
 34-year h

istory, w
ith sales 

totallin
g R461,7 millio

n and a profit before tax of R49,3 millio
n, 

which is an increase of 144,1% on the previous year. 

This positiv
e growth tre

nd is in lin
e with the new management 

team’s commitm
ent to return Verim

ark to its form
er levels 

of growth in sales and profitability
. Verim

ark’s exceptional 

growth re
corded over th

e last tw
o years (m

ore th
an six tim

es 

the official re
tail s

ector’s growth as re
porte

d by Statistics SA) 

vindicates the substantial changes made to management over 

the previous th
ree years and fu

rth
er c

onfirm
s th

e viability
 of 

Verim
ark’s entre

preneurial business model.

Given the continued growth in profitability
 and cash flow of th

e 

Group, the Board decided (in line with the Group’s divid
end 

policy) to declare a divid
end of 50% of profit attri

butable to 

shareholders.

With regard to the Group’s improved profitability
, the main 

reasons were:

Increase in sales and profits

The exceptionally 
high growth achieved in sales was th

e m
ain 

contrib
utor to profitability

 in the year under review. The key 

factors that contrib
uted to this growth are dealt with in the 

Operational Review.

Expenses 

Although total expenses increased at a lower ra
te th

an sales, 

there were some expense categories that did increase at a 

higher rate. It became clear towards the latter part 
of the 

reportin
g period that th

e substantial in
crease in sales vo

lumes 

was placing Verim
ark’s operational in

fra
stru

cture under h
uge 

pressure (for example, an additio
nal distrib

ution centre
 was 

required and night s
hifts

 had to
 be scheduled to

 handle th
e 

increased stock movement).

Although the new management te
am perfo

rm
ed well u

nder th
e 

various challenges it f
aced fro

m such high sales growth, some 

expense increases could have been better contro
lled.  

The problem areas have been identified and appropriate actions 

taken to remedy the situation. We are confident that these 

efforts
 will a

llow for im
proved efficiencies in future.

Finance costs were slightly 
higher th

an last ye
ar, p

rim
arily

 due 

to foreign exchange  net lo
sses on hedge contra

cts (R4,6 millio
n 

in the curre
nt ye

ar ve
rsus a loss of R

3,3 millio
n in the previous 

year). 
Interest on the preference share liability

 (R1,1 m
illio

n) 

relating to th
e Verim

ark Employm
ent E

mpowerm
ent Trust w

as 

in lin
e with that of th

e previous year (R
1,2 millio

n).

OPERATIONAL REVIEW AND THE VERIMARK 

BUSINESS MODEL

As our business model is substantially 
diffe

rent to that of 

tra
ditio

nal retailers or suppliers to the retail tra
de, it 

is 

importa
nt that shareholders and interested partie

s have at 

least a basic understanding of th
e key a

spects of th
e Verim

ark 

business model to
 evaluate the tru

e potential and sustainability
 

of th
e Group.

Michael J van Straaten

Our m
anagement te

am 

has met and exceeded 

its commitm
ent to

 return 

Verim
ark to its

 form
er 

levels of growth in sales  

and profitability
.
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Our business model is 

substantially different from 

that of traditional retailers,  

or suppliers to the retail 

trade. It is important that 

our stakeholders have an 

understanding of the key 

aspects of the Verimark 

business model that will  

allow them to evaluate  

the true potential and  

sustainability of our Group. 

WHAT 

DIFFERENTIATES 

US – THE 

VERIMARK 

BUSINESS 

MODEL

DISTRIBUTION OF PRODUCTS 

PROMOTION AND ADVERTISING

•  Sourced from across the globe

•  Selection criteria: unique, superior quality, demonstrability, 

widest possible demographic demand

• Add new products every year

• Test for consumer response before roll-out

• Build into brand leaders over long term

PRODUCTS
VERIMARK BUSINESS MODEL

Business model maximise product sales 

volumes and return on investment

•  Store within a store in retailers

• Verimark stores

• Shows and promotions

• International 

•  Conceptualise and produce DRTV commercials

• Test consumer response

• Roll-out successfully tested products

• High frequency flighting of TV commercials

• Print, in-store TV playback units and demonstrations

Verimark AR.indd   6

2011/07/23   10:35 AM

Innovation to a better lifestyle…
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Corporate information

  Kumba is a public company incorporated and domiciled in South Africa. The main business of Kumba, its 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and associate is the exploration, extraction, beneficiation, marketing, sale and  

shipping of iron ore. The group has its primary listing on the JSE Limited (‘JSE’).

  The condensed consolidated financial report of Kumba and its subsidiaries for the six months ended  

30 June 2011 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 20 July 2011.

2. Basis of preparation 

  The condensed consolidated financial report for the six months ended 30 June 2011 has been prepared in 

compliance with the South African Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended, and the Listings Requirements 

of the JSE. The condensed consolidated financial information has been prepared within the framework concepts 

and recognition and measurement requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’), the 

AC500 standards as issued by the Accounting Practices Board and in accordance with International Accounting 

Standard (‘IAS’) 34, Interim Financial Reporting.

  The condensed consolidated financial report has been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention 

except for certain financial instruments, share-based payments and biological assets which are stated at fair value, 

and is presented in Rand, which is Kumba’s functional and presentation currency.

3. Accounting policies 

  The accounting policies and methods of computation applied in the preparation of the condensed consolidated 

financial report are consistent with those applied for the year ended 31 December 2010.

4. Change in estimates

  Management has revised the remaining estimated useful lives of certain items of property, plant and equipment at 

Sishen mine, as well as the estimated rehabilitation and decommissioning provision at both Sishen and Kolomela 

mines. The effect of these changes is detailed below:
Reviewed
6 months

30 June 2011 
Rm 

Increase in environmental rehabilitation provision

58

Increase in decommissioning provision

11

Increase in accumulated depreciation

32

  The change in estimate in the environmental rehabilitation provision and accumulated depreciation was applied 

prospectively from 1 January 2011 and resulted in a decrease in attributable profit before tax for the six month 

period ended 30 June 2011 of R90 million. The change in estimate in the decommissioning provision has been 

capitalised to the related property, plant and equipment.

5. Property, plant and equipment

 

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

Reviewed
6 months  

30 June 2010
 Rm 

Audited
12 months  

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

Capital expenditure 

1 898 1 457 4 723

Comprising:

   Expansion 

1 301 1 224 3 099

   Stay in business 

597
233 1 624

Transfers from assets under construction to machinery, 

plant and equipment

342
521 1 519

  
  Expansion capital expenditure comprised mainly the development of Kolomela mine. Stay in business capital 

expenditure to maintain operations was principally for the acquisition of heavy mining equipment for Sishen mine. 

6. Share capital

  Reconciliation of share capital and share premium (including treasury shares):

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

Reviewed
6 months  

30 June 2010
 Rm 

Audited
12 months  

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

Balance at beginning of period

153
208

208

Total shares issued for cash consideration

4
56

74

   Shares issued – share premium

12
55

80

    Net movement in shares held by Kumba Iron Ore 

Management Share Trust

(8)
1

(6)

Net movement in treasury shares under employee share 

incentive schemes

(38)
(88) (129)

   Purchase of treasury shares

(140) (103) (191)

   Shares issued to employees

102
15

62

Share capital and share premium

119
176

153

  140 000 ordinary shares were issued during the period (30 June 2010: 1 130 300 shares).

7. Interest-bearing borrowings
 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

Reviewed
6 months  

30 June 2010
 Rm 

Audited
12 months  

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

Long-term interest-bearing borrowings
3 188 3 182 3 185

Cash and cash equivalents

(5 382) (2 264) (4 855)

Net (cash)/debt 

(2 194)
918 (1 670)

Total equity 

21 559 14 193 18 376

Movements in interest-bearing borrowings are analysed as follows:

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

Reviewed
6 months  

30 June 2010
 Rm 

Audited
12 months  

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

Opening balance as at 1 January

3 185 3 914 3 914

Debt raised

– 1 712 4 771

Repayment of borrowings

– (2 468) (5 527)

Deferred transaction costs recognised

3
24

27

Closing balance 

3 188 3 182 3 185

   R3.2 billion of the total R8.6 billion long-term debt facilities has been drawn down to finance Kumba’s expansion. 

Kumba was not in breach of any of its covenants during the period. The group had undrawn long-term debt and 

uncommitted short-term facilities at 30 June 2011 of R9.3 billion (2010: R9.3 billion).

8. Significant items included in operating profit

 Operating expenses is made up as follows:  Reviewed

6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

Reviewed

6 months  

30 June 2010
 Rm 

Audited

12 months  

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

Production costs

3 888 3 109 7 029

Movement in inventories

(243)
(27) (459)

   Finished products

46
85

(171)

   Work-in-progress

 (289) (112) (288)

COST OF GOODS SOLD

3 645 3 082 6 570

Mineral royalty

842
546 1 410

Selling and distribution costs

1 682 1 604 3 041

Cost of services rendered – shipping

984 1 392 2 560

Sublease rent received

(4)
(5)

(8)

Operating expenditure

7 149 6 619 13 573

Operating profit has been derived after taking into  

account the following items:

Employee expenses

1 151
996 2 078

Share-based payment expenses 

123
106

206

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
465

369
765

Net loss on disposal and scrapping of property, plant and 

equipment

10
2

5

Net loss on disposal of investment

–
2

2

Finance gains

(313) (297) (286)

   Gains on derivative financial instruments
(109) (161) (636)

   Foreign currency (gains)/losses

(204) (136)
350

Operating expenses capitalised

(505) (226) (581)

9. Segmental reporting

  The Kumba executive committee considers the business principally according to the nature of the products and 

service provided, with the identified segments each representing a strategic business unit.

  The total reported segment revenue comprises revenue from external customers as the group does not have any 

inter-segment revenue and is measured in a manner consistent with that disclosed in the income statement. 

   The performance of the operating segments are assessed based on a measure of earnings before interest and tax 

(‘EBIT’), which is consistent with ’Operating profit’ in the financial statements. Finance income and finance costs are 

not allocated to segments, as treasury activity is managed on a central group basis. 

  Total segment assets comprise finished goods inventory only, which is allocated based on the operations of the 

segment and the physical location of the asset. 

  ’Other segments’ comprise corporate, administration and other expenditure not allocated to the reported  

segments.

Reviewed six months 

ended 30 June 2011

Sishen mine
Rm

Thabazimbi
mine

Rm

Kolomela
mine1

Rm

Shipping

operations
 Rm 

Total
Rm

Revenue
22 451

444
– 1 171 24 066

EBIT
17 069

15
–

187 17 271

Total segment assets
504

252
–

–
756

Reviewed six months 

ended 30 June 2010

Revenue
15 927

260
– 1 639 17 826

EBIT
11 218

–
–

247 11 465

Total segment assets
616

265
–

–
881

Audited 12 months 

ended 31 December 2010

Revenue
35 159

666
– 2 879 38 704

EBIT
25 540

(44)
–

319 25 815

Total segment assets
682

306
–

–
988

1   Kolomela mine represents a strategic business unit for Kumba, although it does not yet qualify as a reportable segment in terms of 

IFRS 8, Operating Segments. The development of the mine is well advanced in terms of key deliverables.

Reconciliation of EBIT to total profit before taxation
 Reviewed

6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

Reviewed

6 months  

30 June 2010
 Rm 

Audited

12 months  

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

EBIT for reportable segments

17 271 11 465 25 815

Other segments

(354) (258) (684)

OPERATING PROFIT

16 917 11 207 25 131

Net finance income/(costs)

54
(66)

(29)

Profit before taxation

16 971 11 141 25 102

Geographical analysis  Reviewed

6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

Reviewed

6 months  

30 June 2010
 Rm 

Audited

12 months  

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

Total revenue from external customers

South Africa

1 602
798 2 874

Export

22 464 17 028 35 830

   China

15 943 11 974 23 112

   Rest of Asia

3 441 2 091 7 465

   Europe

2 865 2 963 4 896

   Middle East and Northern Africa

81
–

300

   South America

134
–

57

Total revenue

24 066 17 826 38 704

SALIENT FEATURES AND OPERATING STATISTICS

For the period ended

 Unaudited
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

 Unaudited
6 months 

30 June 2010
 Rm 

 Unaudited
12 months 

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

SHARE STATISTICS (’000)

Total shares in issue

 322 052  321 545  321 912 

Weighted average number of shares

 320 992  320 195  320 727 

Diluted weighted average number of shares
 322 066  321 474  321 691 

Treasury shares

 953  709  818 

Treasury shares (Rand million)

 243  150  197 

MARKET INFORMATION

Closing share price (Rand)

 484  316  425 

Market capitalisation (Rand million)

 155 873  101 608  136 652 

Market capitalisation (US$ million)

 22 990  13 247  20 611 

NET ASSET VALUE (Rand per share)

 51.49  35.82  44.54

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE (Rand million)

Incurred

 1 898  1 457  4 723 

Contracted

 2 147  1 948  1 727 

Authorised but not contracted

 4 176  6 456  4 965 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE RELATING TO THABAZIMBI MINE 

TO BE FINANCED BY ARCELORMITTAL

Contracted

 186 
 4 

 38 

Authorised but not contracted

 75 
 31 

 48 

OPERATING COMMITMENTS

Operating lease commitments

 95  113  104 

Shipping services

 109  114 
 73 

ECONOMIC INFORMATION

Average Rand/US Dollar exchange rate (ZAR/US$)
 6.88  7.52  7.30 

Closing Rand/US Dollar exchange rate (ZAR/US$)
 6.78  7.67  6.63 

OPERATING STATISTICS (Mt)

Production

 19.1  21.9  43.3 

   Sishen mine

 18.6  21.1  41.3 

   Thabazimbi mine

 0.5 
 0.8 

 2.0 

Sales

 22.0  21.9  43.1 

   Export

 18.4  18.8  36.1 

   Dometic

 3.6 
 3.1 

 7.0 

       Sishen mine

 2.5 
 2.2 

 5.0 

       Thabazimbi mine

 1.1 
 0.9 

 2.0 

SISHEN MINE ‘FOR’ UNIT COST

Unit cost (Rand per tonne)

 159.18  116.50  128.65 

Cash cost (Rand per tonne)

 131.01  100.35  111.20 

Unit cost (US$ per tonne)

 23.14  15.49  17.62 

Cash cost (US$ per tonne)

 19.04  13.34  15.23 

CONDENSED GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the period ended

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2010
 Rm 

 Audited
12 months 

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

TOTAL EQUITY AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD
 18 376  8 956  8 956 

CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM 

Shares issued during the period 

 4 
 56 

 74 

Treasury shares issued to employees under employee share 

incentive schemes 

 102 
 15 

 62 

Purchase of treasury shares 

 (140)  (103)  (191)

CHANGES IN RESERVES

Equity-settled share-based payment 

 58 
 86  203 

Vesting of shares under employee share schemes 
 (102)

 (15)
 (63)

Total comprehensive income for the period  
 9 081  6 546  14 143 

Dividends paid 

 (6 758)  (2 375)  (6 756)

Net asset value of SPV on deconsolidation 

–
–

 (139)

Change in effective ownership of SIOC 

–
–

 (301)

CHANGES IN NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST 

Total comprehensive income for the period 
 2 804  1 680  3 929 

Change in effective ownership of SIOC 

–
–

 301 

Dividends paid 

 (1 882)  (648)  (1 834)

Movement in non-controlling interest in reserves 
 16 

 (5)
 (8)

Total equity at the end of the period

 21 559  14 193  18 376 

COMPRISING:

Share capital and premium (net of treasury shares)
 119  176  153 

Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
 538  546  487 

Foreign currency translation reserve

 177  388  142 

Cash flow hedge accounting reserve

 (30)
 (7)

 (24)

Retained earnings

 15 779  10 415  13 580 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 16 583  11 518  14 338 

   Attributable to the owners of Kumba 

 15 934  10 715  13 811 

   Attributable to the non-controlling interest in SIOC 
 649  803  527 

Non-controlling interest

 4 976  2 675  4 038 

Total equity

 21 559  14 193  18 376 

DIVIDEND (Rand per share)

Interim*

21.70 
13.50 13.50

Final

–
– 21.00

*   The interim dividend was declared after 30 June 2011 and has not been recognised as a liability in this interim financial report.  It will be 

recognised in shareholders’ equity in the year ending 31 December 2011.

CONDENSED GROUP BALANCE SHEET

As at

 Reviewed 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

Reviewed

30 June 2010
 Rm 

 Audited 

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 

 17 447  12 800  15 866 

Biological assets 

 5 
 7 

 6 

Investments in associates and joint ventures 

 24 
 30 

 29 

Investments held by environmental trust 

 423  313  372 

Long-term prepayments and other receivables 
 50 

 20 
 53 

Deferred tax assets 

 617  233  472 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

 18 566  13 403  16 798 

Inventories 

 3 398  2 672  3 102 

Trade and other receivables 

 5 167  5 025  3 096 

Current tax asset 

 30 
– 

 24 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 5 382  2 264  4 855 

CURRENT ASSETS 

 13 977  9 961  11 077 

Total assets

 32 543  23 364  27 875 

EQUITY

Shareholders’ equity

 16 583  11 518  14 338 

Non-controlling interest

 4 976  2 675  4 038 

TOTAL EQUITY

 21 559  14 193  18 376 

LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing borrowings

 3 188  3 182  3 185 

Provisions

 815  492  672 

Deferred tax liabilities

 3 533  2 332  2 272 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 7 536  6 006  6 129 

Short-term portion of provisions 

 9 
 3 

 11 

Trade and other payables 

 3 078  2 849  3 274 

Current tax liabilities 

 361  313 
 85 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

 3 448  3 165  3 370 

TOTAL LIABILITIES

 10 984  9 171  9 499 

Total equity and liabilities

 32 543  23 364  27 875 

CONDENSED GROUP INCOME STATEMENT

For the period ended

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2010
 Rm 

 Audited
12 months 

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

Revenue

 24 066  17 826  38 704 

Operating expenses

 (7 149)  (6 619)  (13 573)

OPERATING PROFIT

 16 917  11 207  25 131 

Finance income

 114 
 58  149 

Finance costs

 (60)  (124)  (178)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

 16 971  11 141  25 102 

Taxation

 (5 135)  (3 003)  (6 813)

Profit for the period

 11 836  8 138  18 289 

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of Kumba

 9 052  6 489  14 323 

Non-controlling interest

 2 784  1 649  3 966 

 11 836  8 138  18 289 

EARNINGS PER SHARE FOR PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE  

TO THE OWNERS OF KUMBA (Rand per share)

Basic

28.20  20.27  44.66 

Diluted

28.11  20.19  44.52 

CONDENSED GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

For the period ended

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2010
 Rm 

 Audited
12 months 

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

Cash generated from operations

 15 037  9 499  25 555 

Net finance costs paid

 (49)  (191)  (283)

Taxation paid

 (3 739)  (2 633)  (7 031)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 11 249  6 675  18 241 

Capital expenditure

 (1 898)  (1 457)  (4 723)

Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets
–

 1 
 1 

Investments in associates and joint ventures

 5  (12)
 (9)

Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries

– 
–

 (2)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 (1 893)  (1 468)  (4 733)

Share capital issued

 4 
 56 

 74 

Purchase of treasury shares

 (140)  (103)  (191)

Dividends paid

 (6 758)  (2 374)  (6 714)

Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders
 (1 925)  (663)  (1 876)

Net interest-bearing borrowings repaid

–
 (732)  (729)

Increase in non-controlling interest

–
–

 (147)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 (8 819)  (3 816)  (9 583)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

 537  1 391  3 925 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
 4 855  891  891 

Exchange differences on translation of cash and cash 

equivalents

 (10)  (18)
 39 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
 5 382  2 264  4 855 

CONDENSED GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the period ended

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2010
 Rm 

 Audited
12 months 

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

 11 836    8 138  18 289

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSSES) FOR THE 

PERIOD, NET OF TAX 

 49
 88

 (217)

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations
 46 

 87  (215)

Net effect of cash flow hedges

 3 
 1 

 (2)

Total comprehensive income for the period
 11 885  8 226  18 072

ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

Owners of Kumba

 9 081  6 546  14 143 

Non-controlling interest

 2 804  1 680  3 929 

 11 885  8 226  18 072 

HEADLINE EARNINGS

For the period ended

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2011
 Rm 

 Reviewed
6 months 

30 June 2010
 Rm 

 Audited
12 months 

31 Dec 2010
 Rm 

RECONCILIATION OF HEADLINE EARNINGS

Attributable profit

 9 052  6 489  14 323 

Net loss on disposal and scrapping of property,  

plant and equipment

 10 
 2 

 5 

Net loss on disposal of investment

–
 2 

 2 

 9 062  6 493  14 330 

Taxation effect of adjustments

 2 
 (1)

 (1)

Non-controlling interest in adjustments

 (3)
–

 (1)

Headline earnings

 9 061  6 492  14 328 

HEADLINE EARNINGS (Rand per share)

Basic

28.23 20.28 44.67

Diluted

28.13 20.19 44.54

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings and headline 

earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares in issue as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
 320 991 881  320 194 536  320 727 067 

Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares*
 322 065 729  321 474 211  321 691 135 

*  The adjustment of 1 073 848 shares to the weighted average number of ordinary shares is as a result of the vesting of share options 

previously granted under various employee share incentive schemes. 

10. Related party transactions

  During the period, Kumba, in the ordinary course of business, entered into various sale, purchase and service 

transactions with associates, joint ventures, fellow subsidiaries, its holding company and Exxaro Resources 

Limited. These transactions were subject to terms that are no less favourable than those offered by third parties.

  Included in cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2011 is a short-term deposit facility placed with Anglo American 

SA Finance Limited of R4 081 million (31 December 2010: R1 391 million). Interest earned on this facility during 

the period was market related and amounted to R87 million (31 December 2010: R4.1 million) at a weighted 

average interest rate of 5.36% (31 December 2010: 5.30%). No deposit facility was placed with Anglo American 

SA Finance Limited at 30 June 2010.

11. Contingent assets and liabilities

  11.1. Falémé Project – contingent asset

   Kumba initiated arbitration proceedings against La Société des Mines De Fer Du Sénégal Oriental 

(‘Miferso’) and the Republic of Senegal under the rules of the Arbitration of the International Chamber of 

Commerce in 2007, in relation to the Falémé Project.

   Following the arbitration award rendered in July 2010, a mutually agreed settlement was concluded 

between the parties. The parties agreed that the precise terms of the settlement agreement will remain 

confidential. The first settlement was paid by the Republic of Senegal in April 2011. The remaining 

settlement amount will be recovered in equal instalments from the Republic of Senegal over the remaining 

four-year period, on which contingent legal costs will be payable. A portion of the amount recovered was 

committed to social and community development projects to benefit the population of Senegal.

 11.2. Contingent liabilities

   There have been no significant changes in the contingent liabilities disclosed at 31 December 2010.

12. Legal proceedings

 12.1. Sishen Supply Agreement arbitration – ArcelorMittal

   SIOC notified ArcelorMittal on 5 February 2010, that it was no longer entitled to receive 6.25Mtpa of iron 

ore contract mined by SIOC at cost plus 3% from Sishen mine, as a result of the fact that ArcelorMittal 

had failed to convert its old order mining rights. This contract mining agreement, concluded in 2001, 

was premised on ArcelorMittal owning an undivided 21.4% interest in the mineral rights of Sishen mine. 

As a result of ArcelorMittal’s failure to convert its old order mining right, the contract mining agreement 

automatically lapsed and became inoperative in its entirety as of 1 May 2009.

   As a result, a dispute arose between SIOC and ArcelorMittal, which SIOC has referred to arbitration. Both 

parties have exchanged their respective pleadings, and the arbitration panel has been appointed.

   SIOC and ArcelorMittal reached an interim pricing arrangement in respect of the supply of iron ore to 

ArcelorMittal from the Sishen mine. This arrangement will endure until 31 July 2011. In view of the fact 

that the arbitration proceedings between the two companies is anticipated to take place in the first half of 

2012, SIOC and ArcelorMittal have now agreed to an addendum to the current interim supply agreement 

which extends the terms and conditions of the current interim agreement to allow sufficient time for the 

arbitration process to be finalised. The new interim pricing agreement, which is on the same terms and 

conditions as the first interim pricing agreement, will commence on 1 August 2011 and endure to  

31 July 2012. 

 12.2. 21.4% undivided share of the Sishen mine mineral rights

   After ArcelorMittal failed to convert its older rights, SIOC applied for the residual 21.4% mining right 

previously held by ArcelorMittal and its application was accepted by the DMR on 4 May 2009. A 

competing application for a prospecting right over the same area was also accepted by the DMR. SIOC 

objected to this acceptance. Notwithstanding this objection, a prospecting right over the 21.4% interest 

was granted by the DMR to ICT. SIOC initiated a review application in the North Gauteng High Court on  

21 May 2010 in relation to the decision of the DMR to grant a prospecting right to ICT. This review 

application is enrolled for determination in the High Court on 15 August 2011.

   SIOC initiated an application on 14 December 2010 to interdict ICT from applying for a mining right in 

respect of the Sishen mine and the DMR from accepting an application from ICT or granting such  

21.4% mining right to ICT pending the final determination of the review application. This interdict 

application is currently pending.

   The DMR informed SIOC on 12 January 2011 that ICT had applied for a 21.4% mining right over Sishen 

mine on 9 December 2010, and that the DMR had accepted this application on 23 December 2010. 

The DMR’s acceptance of the application means that the mining right application will now be evaluated 

according to the detailed process stipulated in the Mineral Resources and Petroleum Development Act 

2004 before a decision is made as to whether or not to grant the mining right.

   SIOC does not believe that it was lawful for the DMR to have accepted ICT’s application pending the 

High Court Review initiated in May 2010, and has formally objected to, and appealed against, the DMR’s 

acceptance of ICT’s mining right application. SIOC’s interdict application to prevent the DMR from 

considering ICT’s mining rights application until the finalisation of the review proceedings is currently 

enrolled for determination on 15 August 2011.

   In addition, SIOC has challenged the DMR’s decision of 25 January 2011 to reject SIOC’s May 2009 

application to be granted the residual 21.4% mining right by lodging an appeal. No decision on this appeal 

has been received to date. On 26 January 2011, SIOC lodged a new application for the 21.4% mining 

right.

   On 4 February 2011, SIOC successfully made an application to join ArcelorMittal as a respondent in the 

review process. The joinder application was granted by the High Court on 6 June 2011, and ArcelorMittal 

has submitted affidavits to the Court.

   SIOC will continue to take the necessary steps to protect its shareholders’ interests in this regard.

 12.3. Lithos Corporation (Pty) Limited

   Lithos Corporation (Pty) Limited is claiming US$421 million from Kumba for damages in relation to the 

Falémé project in Senegal. Kumba continues to defend the merits of the claim and is of the view, and has 

been so advised, that the basis of the claim and the quantification thereof is fundamentally flawed. The trial 

date has been postponed indefinitely. There have been no further developments in this matter.

13. Events after the reporting date

  The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the period and up to the date 

of this report, not otherwise dealt with in this report.

14. Corporate governance

  The group subscribes to the Code of Good Corporate Practices and Conduct is currently in the process of 

implementing the recommendations of the King III Report and will report fully in the 2011 integrated report.

15. Independent audit review report

  The auditors, Deloitte & Touche, have issued their unmodified review report on the condensed consolidated 

interim financial report for the six months ended 30 June 2011. The review was conducted in accordance with 

ISRE 2410 Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity. A copy 

of their unmodified review report is available for inspection at the company’s registered office. Any reference 

to future financial performance included in this announcement has not been reviewed and reported on by the 

company’s auditors.

On behalf of the Board

AJ Morgan  
CI Griffith 

20 July 2011

Interim chairman  
Chief executive officer 

Pretoria

Real Mining. Real People. Real Difference.

KUMBA IRON ORE

MARKET OVERVIEWTotal world crude steel production continued to 
grow reaching 760Mt for the first six months of 
2011, up 6% from 717Mt reached in 2010. China’s 

crude steel production during the first six months 
of 2011 increased by 9% year-on-year to 352Mt 
despite monetary tightening policies. Crude steel 
production in Japan has remained flat year-on-
year even though production was disrupted by the 

earthquake and tsunami in March of this year.  
Global seaborne iron ore imports rose by 5% 
year-on-year to 515Mt fuelled by an 11% increase 

in China. With adverse weather and logistics 
constraints impacting on seaborne iron ore  
supply, the market has remained tight, which  
has incentivised the sourcing of domestically  
mined high cost iron ore by Chinese steel mills. 
Whilst Chinese domestic iron ore production has 
increased, the average implied grade continues  
to fall.

Iron ore index prices peaked during the first  
quarter and, although retreating off these levels, 
have remained high underpinned by the high  
cost Chinese domestic iron ore supply. On  
average, realised quarterly benchmark and  
index prices were virtually the same for the  
first half of 2011, supported by high index prices.  
The majority of Kumba’s export sales volumes 
remains committed to long-term and annual 
contracts and priced on a quarterly benchmark 
basis, derived from the iron ore index. In the  
first half of 2011, iron ore sold on a quarterly  
benchmark basis accounted for 71% of total  
export sales volumes. The remaining 29%  
consisted of index sales. 

To read more about our strategy visit www.
angloamericankumba.com/au-strategy.php

SAFETY PERFORMANCEKumba remains committed to the safety of its 
employees at all the group’s sites and has intensified 

its safety initiatives in a drive to achieve zero harm. 

Sishen, Thabazimbi and Kolomela mines worked the 

full six months without a fatality. The group recorded 

five lost-time injuries (‘LTI’s’) for the period, which  

has resulted in the lost-time injury frequency rate  

of the group improving to 0.05 compared to the 
 0.11 achieved in 2010. Sishen mine recorded 
three LTI’s and Thabazimbi mine two LTI’s. Kolomela 

mine was LTI-free throughout the period and the 
Kolomela project achieved an outstanding safety 
performance by recording 13.3 million LTI-free man 

hours, despite the level of construction activity, with 

the last LTI recorded at the site in January 2010.  

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCETotal tonnes mined at Sishen mine increased by 6% from 72.1Mt in 2010 to 76.7Mt, of which waste mined was 51.8Mt, an increase of 12% from the 46.1Mt of waste 

mined during the first six months of 2010. The mine planned to increase its waste mining, but fell short of plans as mining activity was adversely impacted by wet pit 

conditions resulting from excessive rainfall. As a result of the wet pit conditions, run of mine material supplied to the Dense Medium Separation (‘DMS’) plant reduced, 

causing total production at Sishen mine to decrease by 12% from 21.1Mt in 2010 to 18.6Mt. Production from the DMS plant decreased by 2.4Mt to 12.3Mt. The 

DMS plant was adversely impacted by maintenance downtime and wet feedstock causing blockages in the plant. The jig plant achieved a run rate in excess of design 

capacity during the second quarter which made good the shortfall of the first quarter. The jig plant continued to deliver ~3.2Mt per quarter (a third of Sishen mine’s total 

production).
Total sales volumes for the group for the half year were maintained at approximately 22Mt. Export sales volumes from Sishen mine for the half year decreased by 0.4Mt 

or 2% from 18.8Mt in 2010 to 18.4Mt. Kumba’s export sales volumes to China totalled 69% of total export volumes for the six months, compared to 57% during the first 

half of 2010, as export sales to Japan reduced from 2.8Mt to 1.7Mt or 9% of total export volumes for the six months partly as a result of the earthquake and tsunami as 

well as the rescheduling of some vessels from June 2011 to July 2011. Notwithstanding lower production in the first half of 2011, total sales volumes were maintained at 

approximately 22Mt as 2.8Mt of stock was used to supplement the lower production from the mine. Finished product stockpiles were reduced at Sishen mine from 4.7Mt 

to 2.2Mt. Saldanha port stock increased from 0.9Mt to 1.1Mt. Total domestic sales volumes for the six months of 3.7Mt were up by 19% or 0.6Mt due to higher demand 

from ArcelorMittal South Africa Limited (‘ArcelorMittal’). 
Volumes railed on the Sishen-Saldanha iron ore export channel increased by 7% to a record level of 19.5Mt (including 0.6Mt railed to Saldanha Steel).  Kumba shipped 

18.7Mt from the Saldanha port destined for the export market, down 2% year-on-year, due to a breakdown of loading equipment at the port. The stockpile level in transit 

to and at the Qingdao port in China was 1.5Mt at 30 June 2011.

Waste mining at Thabazimbi mine increased by 67% to 23.5Mt as the last new pit is opened with the progression towards the end of the life of the mine in 2016.  

Production at Thabazimbi mine, although planned to be lower in 2011, was also impacted by abnormally high rainfall, and reduced by 34% year-on-year to 0.5Mt for the 

six months. Domestic sales from the mine were higher at 1.1Mt driven by the offtake requirements of ArcelorMittal and were supplemented from stockpiles.

REVIEWED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED  

INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORT
for the six months ended 30 June 2011 HEADLINE EARNINGSup 40% to R9.1bn

SAFETY (LTIFR)

0.05 
improved 58%

PRODUCTION AND SALES REPORT
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED 30 JUNE 2011Total iron ore production decreased by 1% to 10.4Mt in the second quarter from a year earlier and by 13% to 

19.2Mt for the six months ended 30 June 2011. Production recovered during the second quarter increasing by 

1.6Mt or 18% from the first quarter, which was severely impacted by the adverse weather conditions.

Total sales for the second quarter of 2011 of 11.6Mt increased by 6% from a year earlier. This was mainly due 

to a 14% increase in export sales to 9.8Mt in the second quarter of 2011, mainly to customers in China, as well 

as a 21% increase in domestic sales volumes. Total export sales for the six months of 18.4Mt were 2% lower 

than the 18.8Mt sold during the same period in 2010.
Six months overview

Unaudited six months ended

‘000 tonnes

30 June 
2011 30 June 

2010 %
change

Production  summaryIron ore

19 153
21 935 (13)

Lump

11 784
13 214 (11)

Fines

7 369
8 721 (16)

Mine productionTotal

19 153
21 935 (13)

Sishen mine

18 646
21 078 (12)

DMS plant

12 330
14 655 (16)

Jig plant

6 316
6 423 (2)

Thabazimbi mine

507
857 (41)

Sales summary
Total

22 025
21 946

–

Sishen mine

20 899
21 059 (1)

Export sales

18 363
18 817 (2)

Domestic sales

2 536
2 242 13

Thabazimbi mine

1 126
887 27

Quarterly overview

Unaudited quarter ended
Unaudited quarter ended

‘000 tonnes 30 June 
2011 30 June 

2010 %
change 31 March

2011 
31 March

2010 %
change

Production summaryIron ore
10 359 10 446 (1) 8 794 11 489 (23)

Lump

6 384
6 312 1

5 400
6 902 (22)

Fines

3 975
4 134 (4) 3 394

4 587 (26)

Mine productionTotal

10 359 10 446 (1) 8 794 11 489 (23)

Sishen mine
10 098 10 072 –

8 548 11 006 (22)

DMS plant
6 589

6 977 (6) 5 741
7 678 (25)

Jig plant
3 509

3 095 13
2 807

3 328 (16)

Thabazimbi mine
261

374 (30)
246

483 (49)

Sales summaryTotal

11 642 11 014 6 10 383 10 932 (5)

Sishen mine
11 078 10 595 5

9 821 10 464 (6)

Export sales
9 806

9 502 3
8 557

9 315 (8)

Domestic sales
1 272

1 093 16
1 264

1 149 10

Thabazimbi mine
564

419 35
562

468 20

CHANGES IN DIRECTORATEThe Board of Directors of Kumba announced the appointment of Mr Litha M Nyhonyha as a non-executive 

director of Kumba on 22 June 2011.  Vincent Uren has indicated his intention to step down from his position as chief financial officer as from the end 

of December 2011 in order to take a break from corporate life.  He will continue to be employed by Kumba in 

2012 and will work exclusively on the legal issues until 30 June 2012.  Thereafter, he will make himself available 

in an advisory capacity as required.  It is with regret that the Board of Directors of Kumba has accepted Vincent’s 

decision and is pleased that the company will retain his services. Vincent was appointed to the Kumba Board in 

May 2006 and has made a significant contribution to the company.  He has also played a positive and substantial 

role in the legal cases in which the company is and has been involved. The search process has commenced in 

terms of finding a suitable replacement. 

NOTICE OF INTERIM CASH DIVIDEND
At its Board meeting on 20 July 2011 the directors declared an interim cash dividend of R21.70 per share on 

the ordinary shares from profits accrued during the year ending 31 December 2011. The salient dates are as 

follows:
•	 	Last	day	for	trading	to	qualify	and	participate	in	the	final	dividend	 

(and change of address or dividend instructions) 

Friday, 12 August  2011

•	 Trading	ex	dividend	commences	

Monday,	15	August		2011

•	 Record	date	

Friday,	19	August		2011

•	 Dividend	payment	date	

Monday,	22	August		2011

Share certificates may not be dematerialised or rematerialised between Monday, 15 August 2011 and Friday, 

19 August 2011, both days inclusive.By order of the Board
VF Malie  

20 July 2011

Company secretary 

Pretoria

INTERIM CASH DIVIDENDR21.70 per share
HIGHLIGHTSKumba has significantly improved its safety performance and successfully turned around the regression in its safety performance experienced in 2010. The group worked the six months fatality free and has improved its lost-time 

injury frequency rate by 58% from the end of 2010.
Kumba’s headline earnings were R9.1 billion for the six months ended 30 June 2011; 40% above the R6.5 billion achieved in the first half of 2010. Operating profit increased by 51% from R11.2 billion to R16.9 billion thereby 

improving the group’s operating profit margin from 63% in 2010 to 70%. The increase in earnings was achieved primarily as a result of an increase in turnover on the back of an increase of 56% in year-on-year weighted average 

iron ore export prices for the six months. Attributable and headline earnings for the period were R28.20 and R28.23 per share respectively, on which an interim cash dividend of R21.70 per share has been declared.

Operating performance at all sites was adversely impacted by wet pit conditions resulting from abnormally high rainfall. Despite these operational challenges, total sales were maintained at 22Mt. Exports were supplemented with 

sales from stockpiles to ensure the group benefited from record export prices arising from a very strong iron ore market. Sishen mine saw an 18% increase in production and a 15% increase in export sales during the second 

quarter of 2011 as operations recovered from the rain-disrupted first quarter.

The development of Kolomela mine in the Northern Cape has taken substantial strides forward and overall the project has progressed to 94% of completion. With construction substantially complete, the project now moves 

through cold and then hot commissioning with the first ore anticipated to be fed through the plant towards the end of the fourth quarter of 2011.

BROAD-BASED EMPOWERMENTSince its listing in 2006, Kumba through its operating subsidiary Sishen Iron Ore Company (Pty) Limited (‘SIOC’), has returned R11 billion (including the 2011 interim 

dividend of R2.4 billion) to its broad-based empowerment partners: 

•	 	The	SIOC	Community	Development	Trust	(‘the	Trust’).	The	Trust	which	owns	a	3%	stake	in	SIOC,	redeemed	its	funding	in	full	during	2010	and	now	has	the	ability	to	

utilise the full dividends received this year of R527 million to fund sustainable projects in the communities in which we operate; 

•	 	Our	employees	through	the	SIOC	Employee	Share	Participation	Scheme	(‘Envision’).	The	scheme	participants	have	received	dividends	of	R279	million	(with	 

~R55 000 of dividends for each participant) since inception. The Envision scheme matures in November 2011.  At a share price of R484 per Kumba share at  

30 June 2011, R2.5 billion will be distributed to in excess of 6 000 permanent South African employees below managerial level. This capital payout will be in addition to 

the dividends received to date.
•	 Exxaro	Resources	Limited	(‘Exxaro’).	Exxaro	will	have	received	R8.5	billion	in	dividends	upon	receipt	of	the	interim	dividend	declared	in	July	2011.	

It is extremely gratifying to note that despite having to navigate through the global economic crisis in 2008 and 2009 the group has significantly exceeded the original 

expectations of the broad-based empowerment transaction that was conceived in 2006.

FINANCIAL RESULTSThe group’s total mining revenue (excluding shipping operations – R1.2 billion) of R22.9 billion for the  

period was 41% higher than the R16.2 billion of the same period of 2010. This performance was achieved  

on the back of the year-on-year weighted average increase of 56% in realised iron ore export prices. This 

was partially offset by the continued strengthening of the average exchange rate of the Rand to the US Dollar.

Kumba’s operating profit margin of 70% for the six months (73% from mining activities), increased by 7% 

from 63% (68% from mining activities) in 2010. Operating profit increased by 51% or R5.7 billion, principally 

as a result of a weighted average increase of 56% in iron ore export prices, which added R8.2 billion to 

operating profit. However, export sales volumes decreased by 2% which reduced operating profit by  

R370 million. Domestic revenues were R802 million stronger supported by a recovery in demand. 

The increase in operating profit was reduced mainly by:

•	 The	strengthening	of	the	average	exchange	rate	of	the	Rand	to	the	US	Dollar	(average	exchange	rates	

– R6.88/US$1.00 for the first six months of 2011 compared with R7.52/US$1.00 in the same period of 

2010), which reduced operating profit by R1,943 million;

•	 A	R642	million	or	14%	increase	in	operating	expenses	(excluding	shipping	expenses)	as	a	result	of	the	

12% and 67% increase in waste mined at Sishen and Thabazimbi mines respectively, inflationary cost 

escalations and lower production volumes; and
•	 The	increase	in	the	mineral	royalty	accrued,	which	became	effective	in	March	2010,	of	R296	million.

As a result of the increased mining activity at Sishen mine, a 12% decrease in production over the first half 

of 2010 as well as inflationary cost escalations, the unit cash cost increased by 18% from R111.20/tonne at 

the end of 2010 (the 2010 unit cash cost was restated to take into account non-cash share-based payment 

expenses of R103 million or R2.49/tonne) to R131.01/tonne for the six months to 30 June 2011. The group 

has seen above inflationary escalations in key input costs, such as the diesel price which has increased by 

18% from R7.51/litre to R8.88/litre, electricity prices which have increased by 29% year-on-year and labour 

which went up on average by 7%. Waste mining is expected to increase further in the second half of 2011 

which will add upward pressure to unit costs. However, to mitigate this, Kumba remains focused on achieving 

further benefit from successful cost management, operational efficiency and revenue enhancements 

initiatives from its asset optimisation programmes and participation in the Anglo American Supply Chain 

procurement organisation. The Bokamoso programme, which is focused on improving operational efficiencies, has mitigated some of 

the potential losses due to the abnormal and extended rainfall experienced in the Northern Cape during the 

first half of the year. The operations review conducted at Sishen mine as part of the Anglo American asset 

optimisation support has identified a number of new optimisation opportunities which will be implemented 

to further improve the performance of the mine. Further value continues to be extracted by Kumba through 

its marketing initiatives to enhance the premia achieved on its niche lump products. The next phase of 

developing Kumba’s shipping operations through the conclusion of long-term freight contracts is nearing 

finalisation. These asset optimisation and procurement initiatives have delivered R509 million in increased 

revenues and price benefits, operating cost containment of R832 million and reduction in capital expenditure 

of R144 million during the period.The group continued to generate substantial cash from its operations, with R15 billion generated during the 

six months. These cash flows were used to pay taxation of R3.7 billion and aggregate dividends of R8.7 billion 

during the six months. Capital expenditure of R1.9 billion was incurred, of which R597 million was to maintain 

operations and R1.3 billion to expand operations, mainly on Kolomela mine. At 30 June 2011 the group had a 

net cash position of R2.2 billion (R1.7 billion net cash at the end of 2010).  

Net working capital increased by R2.6 billion from 31 December 2010 to R5.5 billion. This increase is due to 

a substantial growth in the accounts receivable balance on the back of the higher export iron ore prices and 

an increase in sales volumes in June 2011 relative to December 2010.

R11bn returned to  
B-BBEE partners

KOLOMELA PROJECTThe development of Kolomela mine remains 
on target and within budget. Overall the project 
has progressed to 94% of completion. With 
construction substantially complete, various 
systems of the plant have been handed over for cold 

commissioning. Hot commissioning of the plant 
is now starting to commence and will take place 
over the second half of 2011. During that process 

ore will be fed through the plant, resulting in work 
in process stock and some saleable product being 

produced during 2011. Significant progress has 
been made by Transnet with the construction of the 

direct rail link from the mine to the Sishen-Saldanha 

iron ore export channel likely to be finalised by the 

fourth quarter of 2011.For the six months ended 30 June 2011, 15.3Mt  
of waste material was mined at a cost of  
R505 million, bringing the total waste mined as 
part of the mine’s development since 2008 to 
37.3Mt (total cost – 2008 to 2010: R1.3 billion). 
600Kt of ore has been mined and stockpiled for 
the commissioning of the plant. The life of mine has 

been extended by eight years to 28 years from the 

initial investment decision, as more resources are 

now economically mineable at the operation.As previously guided, at this stage of the project 
it is anticipated that the mine will be ramped up to 

produce an estimated 4Mt to 5Mt during 2012. 
Kolomela mine is expected to produce at design 
capacity of 9Mtpa in 2013.R5.8 billion of capital expenditure has been incurred 

to date, of which R679 million has been incurred 
during the six months ended 30 June 2011,   
and R1.1 billion has been committed as at  
30 June 2011.

OUTLOOK 
Chinese crude steel production is expected to 
increase by approximately 8% from 2010 levels.  
However, world steel production is expected  
to ease back in the coming months due to stock  
cycle turns, with global crude steel production 
anticipated to increase by approximately 6%.  
Crude steel production during the second half  
of the year is seasonally lower than the first half.  
This is expected to put modest downward pressure 

on iron ore prices in the final quarter of 2011.
Management has implemented focused plans 
to recover the majority of the shortfall in first half 
production by the end of 2011. Waste mining at 
Sishen mine is anticipated to increase as rainfall 
patterns return to normal. Export sales for 2011 are 

expected to remain stable when compared to 2010 

levels.  Domestic sales volumes from Sishen and 
Thabazimbi mines remain dependent on the offtake 

requirements from ArcelorMittal and contractual 
commitments.  

Waste mining at all the operational sites continues 

to increase as planned. In addition, at Sishen mine, 

further waste mining is required to make up for  
the shortfall in the first half of the year. This is 
expected to negatively impact unit cash costs of 
production. 

Relative to the US Dollar, the South African Rand 
has strengthened on average by a further 6% 
from the average exchange rate of 2010. Kumba’s 

operating profit remains highly sensitive to the 
Rand/US Dollar exchange rate.  The High Court review application in relation to 

the decision of the Department of Minerals and 
Resources to grant a prospecting right to Imperial 

Crown Trading 289 (Pty) Limited and the interdict 

in respect of the DMR considering ICT’s subsequent 

mining right application is enrolled for determination 

on 15 August 2011.

MINERAL RESOURCES AND
ORE RESERVESThere have been no material changes to the ore 

reserves as disclosed in the 2010 Kumba Annual 

Report.   

KOLOMELA MINESubstantial  project  progress
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Further financial results are available at www.angloamericankumba.com  Consolidated statement of financial position

GROUP
as at
R (million)

Reviewed
30 June

2011

Reviewed
30 June

2010

Restated
31 Dec

2010

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
7 728.1 3 747.8

7 337.9

Mineral rights

6 728.6 2 914.5
6 756.7

Goodwill

2 275.1
– 2 275.1

Environmental trust deposit
91.3

57.3
87.5

Deferred tax asset

22.0
–

15.2

16 845.1 6 719.6 16 472.4

Current assets

Inventories

33.0
8.7

48.4

Trade and other receivables
1 086.3

779.1
1 384.5

Held to maturity investments
257.8

– 250.9

Current tax receivable

4.8
–

4.8

Related party loans

–
0.6

–

Cash and cash equivalents
1 032.0

182.1
899.4

2 413.9
970.5

2 588.0

Total assets 

19 259.0 7 690.1 19 060.4

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Share capital 

1.7
1.4

1.7

Share premium 

7 759.9 6 817.8
7 759.9

Retained earnings 
3 333.9

178.0
3 161.9

Other reserves 

49.4
–

18.8

Non-controlling interest 
3 798.5

– 3 721.8

Total equity 

14 943.4 6 997.2 14 664.1

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liability
3 994.0

420.2
3 901.4

Borrowings

– 114.7
–

Long-term provisions

74.6
43.6

73.4

4 068.6
578.5

3 974.8

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
246.5

114.4
421.5

Related party loans

0.5
–

–

247.0
114.4

421.5

Total liabilities 

4 315.6
692.9

4 396.3

Total equity and liabilities 
19 259.0 7 690.1 19 060.4

Notes to the financial statements

1. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial information has been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), IAS 34 and interpretations of those standards (as adopted 

by the International Accounting Standards Board) and applicable legislation (requirements of the 

South African Companies Act and the regulations of the JSE Limited).

The financial information is presented in South African Rands, which is the Company’s functional 

currency.

2. Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

The principal accounting policies used by the Group are consistent with those of the previous year, 

except for the adoption of various revised and new standards. The adoption of these standards had 

no material impact on the financial results for this financial year.

3. Independent review by the auditors  

The interim financial statements have been reviewed by PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. whose 

unqualified review is available for inspection at the registered office of RBPlat.

4.  Re-statement of prior year statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive 

income and statement of changes in equity

On 8 November 2010, RBPlat listed on the JSE and obtained control of BRPM. In line with IFRS 

3 Business Combinations, RBPlat remeasured its previously held equity interest in BRPM at 

its acquisition date fair value and recognised the resulting gain in profit. In its 2010 financial 

statements the Company stated that it is still 
in the process of assessing the fair values allocated 

to individual components, specifically mineral rights included in life of mine. 

During the current financial year, the assessment of fair values allocated to individual components 

and the purchase price allocation was finalised, resulting in a revised allocation to the fair values 

of assets, liabilities and goodwill.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Number

 of shares

Ordinary
 shares

R (million)

Share

 premium

R (million)

Share-
based

 payment
 reserve

R (million)

Retained 

earnings 

R (million)

Attri-
butable

 to owners
 of the

 Company

R (million)

Non-

controlling 

interest

R (million)

Total

R (million)

Balance at 31 December 2009 (audited)
137 057 500 

1.4 6 817.8 
– 

(2.9) 6 816.3 
– 6 816.3

Profit for the six months to 30 June 2010
–

–
–

– 180.9
180.9

– 180.9

Balance at 30 June 2010 (reviewed)
137 057 500 

1.4 6 817.8 
– 178.0 6 997.2

– 6 997.2

Transactions with shareholders

Shares issued:

Contingent consideration for the  

17% interest in BRPM 

10 000 000
 0.1

 (0.1) 
–

–
–  

–
–

Shares issued on listing of the Company 
16 620 299

0.2 1 005.4 
–

– 1 005.6 
– 1 005.6

Capitalisation of listing transaction costs
–

– (63.2) 
–

– (63.2)
– (63.2)

IFRS 2 charge for the six months 

–
–

–  18.8 
– 

18.8 
– 

18.8

Profit for the six months 

–
 – 

– 
– 2 985.4 2 985.4

1.9 2 987.3

Non-controlling interest on gaining  

control of BRPM 

–
 – 

–
–

– 
– 3 405.5 3 405.5

Purchase price adjustment 

–
 – 

– 
– 

(1.5)
(1.5) 314.4

312.9

Balance at 31 December 2010 (restated) 163 677 799
1.7 7 759.9

 18.8 3 161.9 10 942.3 3 721.8 14 664.1

IFRS 2 charge for the six months 

–
–

–
30.6

–
30.6

–
30.6

Profit for the six months to 30 June 2011
–

–
–

– 172.0
172.0

76.7
248.7

Balance at 30 June 2011 (reviewed)
163 677 799

1.7 7 759.9
49.9 3 333.9 11 144.9 3 798.5 14 943.4

Directorate Non-executive: *Adv KD Moroka SC (Chairman), *Prof L de Beer, *Mr RG Mills, *Mr DC Noko, *Prof FW Petersen, Mr MH Rogers, Ms M Vuso*. Executive: Mr SD Phiri (CEO), Mr MJL Prinsloo (CFO), Mr NJ Muller (COO). *Independent directors. Registered office: 1st Floor, Block C, 37 High Street, Melrose Arch, Johannesburg.  

PO Box 55669, Melrose Arch, South Africa. Company Secretary: LC Jooste (ACIS). Email: lester@bafokengplatinum.co.za. Telephone: +27 11 530 8058. Telefax: +27 086 572 8047. Independent external Auditors: PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, 2 Eglin Road, Sunninghill, Johannesburg, 2157, South Africa.  

Transfer secretaries: Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107, South Africa. Telephone: +27 11 370 5000. Fax: +27 11 688 5200. Sponsor: Macquarie First South Advisers (Pty) Limited, The Place, Sandton Drive, South Wing, Sandown, 2146, South Africa.

Royal Bafokeng Platinum Limited: (Incorporated in South Africa). “RBPlat” or “the Company” or “the Group”. Registration number: 2008/015696/06. Share code: RBP. ISIN: ZAE000149936.

www.bafokengplatinum.co.za

REVIEWED INTERIM RESULTS for the six months ended 30 June 2011

Consolidated cash flow statement

GROUP 
for the six months ended

R (million)

Reviewed
30 June

2011

Reviewed
30 June

2010

Audited
31 Dec

2010

Cash generated by operations
390.2

264.2
777.0

Interest paid

–
(1.2)

(9.8)

Interest received

21.6
2.7

15.7

Tax (paid)/refund

(10.7)
(0.2)

2.4

Net cash flow generated  

by operating activities 
401.1

265.5
785.3 

Net cash received on acquisition of 

additional interest

–
–

91.7 

Increase in held to maturity 

investments

–
–  (250.9) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 

0.1
–

0.1 

Acquisition of property, plant  

and equipment

(592.4) (243.6) (718.5) 

Increase in environmental  

trust deposit

(2.5)
 (0.9)

(2.4)

Net cash flow utilised by investing 

activities 

(594.8) (244.5) (880.0) 

Issue of ordinary shares net  

of cost 

–
– 942.4 

Increase in long-term borrowings
– 140.0

–

Repayment of long-term borrowings
– (30.0)

–

Settlement of intercompany 

balances 

325.8
–

–

Related party loans received/ 

(advanced)

0.5
(0.4)

0.2 

Net cash flow generated by 

financing activities 
326.3

109.6
942.6 

Net increase in cash and cash 

equivalents 

132.6
130.6

847.9

Cash and cash equivalents at 

beginning of period 
899.4

51.5
51.5

Cash and cash equivalent  

at end of period 
1 032.0

182.1
899.4 

In terms of the guidance provided in IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the group has restated its 

statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes 

in equity and accompanying notes, for the 2010 financial year, to reflect the abovementioned 

changes as if they had occurred at the acquisition date.These changes did not impact the cash 

flow statement. 

The revised details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2010

R (million)

Restated

Previously

 reported

Fair value of 67% interest assumed as the  

purchase price

10 002.7
10 002.7

Purchase consideration allocated to  

identifiable net assets:

11 448.2
10 371.0

Property, plant and equipment

7 212.3
7 212.3

Mineral rights

6 767.0
5 730.9

Environmental trust deposit

87.0
87.0

Inventories

61.3
61.3

Trade and other receivables

1 340.5
1 002.6

Cash and cash equivalents

277.9
277.9

Deferred tax liability

(3 860.7) (3 570.6)

Long-term provisions

(67.8)
(67.8)

Trade and other payables

(369.3)
(362.6)

Less: Non-controlling interest

(3 720.6) (3 405.5)

Goodwill

2 275.1
3 037.2

A multi period excess earnings model was used to finalise the fair value of mineral rights included 

in the life of mine resulting in an increase in the value of mineral rights of R1 billion.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

GROUP 
for the six months ended

R (million)

Reviewed
30 June

2011

Reviewed
30 June

2010

%
change

Restated
31 Dec

2010

Revenue 
1 510.4

988.4 52.8 2 106.8

Cost of sales 
(1 171.1) (685.7) 70.8 (1 608.1)

Cost of sales excluding 

depreciation, 

amortisation and 

movement in 

inventories 
(922.2) (526.8) 75.1 (1 247.5)

Depreciation and 

amortisation
(230.1) (158.9) 44.8

(375.6)

(Decrease)/increase  

in inventories
(18.8)

– 100
15.0

Gross profit 
339.3

302.7 12.1
498.7

Other income 
34.0

0.4 10 150
1.6

Profit on remeasurement 

of previously held interest 

in BRPM

–
–

2 894.8 

Administration  

expenses 

(57.5) (20.6) 179.1
(60.6)

Finance income 
29.9

2.7 748.1
15.7

Finance cost 
(0.4)

(7.1) (94.4) (12.5)

Profit before tax 
345.3

278.1 24.1 3 337.7

Income tax expense 
(96.6) (97.2) (0.6) (171.7)

Income tax 
(10.7)

(0.2) 5 223
(0.4)

Deferred tax
(85.9) (97.0) (11.4) (171.3)

Total comprehensive 

income 

248.7
180.9 32.1 3 166.0

Profit and comprehensive 

income for the period 

attributable to:

Owners of the Company
172.0

180.9 (4.9) 3 164.8

Non-controlling interest
76.7

– 100.0
1.2

248.7
180.9 37.5 3 166.0

Weighted average  

number of shares
163 677 799 137 057 500 19.4 141 132 832

Basic earnings  

per share (cents)
105

132 (20.4)
2 242

Diluted earnings  

per share (cents)
105

132 (20.6)
2 240

Dividends per share 

(cents)

–
– –

–

Highlights

Key features:

■	 	Safety performance continues to improve – one 

million fatality free shifts achieved in June

■	 	Production steady – 142 100 ounces of PGMs (4E), 

despite challenging environment  

■	 	Concentrator recoveries improve by 1.6% to 87.27%

■	 BRPM revenue up by 3% to R1.5 billion

■	 	Unit cash operating cost rises by 14.8% (9% on 

normalised basis)

■	 	Settlement of intercompany balance reconciliations 

results in R325.8 million cash inflow into BRPM 

■	 	Earnings per share of 105 cents (2010: 132 cents)

■	 	Balance sheet un-geared with healthy cash  

and near-cash position of R1.29 billion

■	 	Accelerated capital expenditure at BRPM of  

R592 million YTD (2010: R362 million)  

– R233.4 million declared savings on Styldrift I  

Project to date

■	 	Successful conclusion of long term wage settlement

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

4.  Re-statement of prior year statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive 

income and statement of changes in equity (continued)

The revised details of comprehensive income are as follows: 

For the year ended 31 December 2010

R (million)

Restated

Previously

 reported

Amortisation of mineral rights

28.6
26.4

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company

3 164.5
3 166.3

Non-controlling interest

1.5
1.9

3 166.0
3 168.2

Basic earnings per share (cents per share)

2 242
2 243

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)
2 240

2 241

5. Capital commitments 

Capital commitments relate to the Styldrift I and BRPM Phase II and III projects.

For the six months ended

R (million)

Reviewed

30 June
2011

Reviewed

30 June
2010

Audited

31 Dec
2010

Commitments contracted for
995.2

299.6
960.8

Approved expenditure not yet 

contracted for

10 822.8
6 202.0

8 262.1

11 818.0
6 501.6

9 222.9

The 30 June 2011 and 31 December 2010 capital commitments reflect 100% and 30 June 2010 

reflect 67% of the BRPM project commitments. Effectively RBPlat must fund 67% thereof and RPM 

the remaining 33%.

Should either party elect not to fund their share, the interest will be diluted according to the 

terms of the BRPM JV agreement.

6. Contingencies – guarantee issued

For the six months ended

R (million)

Reviewed

30 June
2011

Reviewed

30 June
2010

Audited

31 Dec
2010

Environmental rehabilitation guarantees 

provided by Royal Bafokeng Management 

Services (Pty) Ltd (RBMS)

47.5
47.5

47.5

Eskom guarantee

17.1
17.1

–

Rental guarantee

0.5
–

–

65.1
64.6

47.5

7. Financing facilities in place

RBPlat had cash and near cash investments on hand at 30 June 2011 of R1.29 billion. The Company 

has an intra-month funding working capital requirement which is met through a R250 million 

working capital facility of which R17.5 million had been utilised for guarantees at 30 June 2011. It 

also has an unutilised revolving credit facility of R500 million.

8. Basic and headline earnings

The reconciliation between basic and headline earnings is shown below:

For the six months ended

R (million)

Reviewed

30 June
2011

Reviewed

30 June
2010

Restated

31 Dec
2010

Basic earnings – profit attributable to 

owners of the Company R (million)
172.0

180.9
3 164.8

Adjustments net of tax:

Profit on remeasurement of previously 

held interest in BRPM R (million)

–
– (2 894.8)

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment R (million)
(0.1)

–
0.2

Headline earnings R (million)
171.9

180.9
270.2

Weighted average number of ordinary 

shares in issue for basic and headline 

earnings per share

163 677 799 137 057 500 141 132 832

Basic earnings per share (cents/share)
105

132
2 242

Diluted earning per share (cents/share)
105

132
2 240

Headline earnings per share (cents/

share)

105
132

191

Diluted headline earning per share 

(cents/share)

105
132

191

9. Sales

The reconciliation between basic and headline earnings is shown below:

For the six months ended

R (million)

Reviewed

30 June
2011

Reviewed

30 June
2010

Restated

31 Dec
2010

Concentrate sales – production from 

BRPM concentrator

1 419.8
982.8

2 094.7

UG2 toll concentrate sales

90.6
–

–

Intergroup management fee

–
5.6

12.1

1 510.4
988.4

2 106.8

10. Cost of sales

Cost of sales consist of:

For the six months ended

R (million)

Reviewed

30 June
2011

Reviewed

30 June
2010

Restated

31 Dec
2010

On-mine costs:

Labour

330.6
203.0

489.5

Utilities

63.0
35.4

87.6

Contractor costs

179.6
112.9

264.1

Materials and other mining costs
341.9

174.7
362.6

Depreciation

202.0
147.9

347.0

Amortisation

28.1
11.0

26.4

Other

25.9
0.8

28.7

1 171.1
685.7

1 605.9

11. Related party transactions

Cost of sales consist of:

For the six months ended

R (million)

Reviewed

30 June
2011

Reviewed

30 June
2010

Restated

31 Dec
2010

Loan from Royal Bafokeng Management 

Services (Pty) Limited (RBMS)

0.5
0.6

–

Amount owing by RPM for  

concentrate sales

1 016.4
674.2

1 008.5

Amount owing to RPM for  

contribution to BRPM

20.0
37.8

69.7

Transactions during the year:

Concentrate sales to RPM

1 510.4
982.8

2 094.7

Royal Bafokeng Platinum Management 

Services (Pty) Limited management fee 

charged to BRPM

–
5.6

12.1

Transactions with Fraser Alexander
10.7

2.8
5.6

RBMS fees of administrative nature
0.8

–
0.8

12. Dividends

No dividends have been declared or proposed in the current period (2010: nil).

13. Segmental reporting 

The Group is currently operating one mine with two declines and a new vertical shaft development. 

This operation is treated as one operating segment and therefore no separate segmental reporting 

is provided. The information reviewed by the chief operating decision maker is the same as the 

information provided in the primary statements and therefore no separate reporting segments 

have been identified.

Overview
Royal Bafokeng Platinum (RBPlat) is pleased to report a satisfactory performance for the six 

months ended 30 June 2011 despite a challenging environment, with headline earnings of 

R172 million, or headline earnings per share of 105 cents. Comparisons are made with the six 

months to end June 2010 where this is appropriate, however, reporting for the current year 

reflects the full consolidation of the Bafokeng Platinum Rasimone Mine (BRPM), whereas only 

a 67% interest in BRPM was proportionately consolidated in the comparative period.

Safety
RBPlat is pleased to have achieved one million fatality-free shifts on 22 June 2011. There 

were no fatal injuries in the six months to June 2011. In its continuous drive towards zero 

harm RBPlat achieved a further reduction of 4% in its Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate 

(LTIFR) from 1.15 to 1.10 lost time injuries per 200,000 hours worked. In addition RBPlat 

managed to reduce its Serious Injury Frequency Rate (SIFR) by 32%. This improvement in 

safety performance is attributed to a new safety strategy that focuses on leadership, design, 

systems and behaviour, specifically in areas associated with high severity injuries (fall of 

ground, mobile machinery, equipment). In addition a system of internal cross auditing was 

introduced to ensure a high level of compliance to operating standards, procedures and 

policies.

Operational performance

Despite a challenging environment that prevailed, particularly in the first quarter, 4E ounces 

in concentrate remained relatively stable at 142,100oz compared with 141,200 oz in H1 2010 

i.e. an increase of 1%. This was achieved through additional direct mining resources working 

additional shifts, an increase in UG2 output and improved concentrator plant recoveries.

The total reef tonnage milled at 1,172,000t was 1% down from H1 2010 mainly as a result of 

Merensky output reducing by 11% from 1,169,000t to 1,037,000t. This reduction was largely 

offset by an increase in UG2 production from 8,900t to 134,900t. Factors contributing to the 

reduced Merensky output were safety related stoppages, a conveyor belt failure at the North 

shaft and lower immediately minable reserve face length (IMS). Appropriate measures to 

increase IMS have been initiated.

The overall mill head grade was 4.32g/t4E compared with 4.34g/t4E the previous year. The 

Merensky grade improved from 4.34g/t4E to 4.41g/t4E but the overall grade was diluted  

by an increased contribution from UG2 production at a lower grade of 3.65g/t4E. UG2  

production is expected to contribute around 15% of total volumes for the remainder of 2011. 

The marginally lower milled tonnage and grade was offset by a 1.6% improvement in 

concentrator plant recovery, from 85.89% to 87.27%. This is attributed to a more efficient 

plant operation and the impact of the ISA mill. A total of 99,600 t of UG2 ore was processed 

at the Waterval Concentrator through the UG2 ore off-take agreement with Anglo American 

Platinum.

Efficiency

The challenging operating conditions in H1 had an adverse impact on mining team efficiencies 

which declined by 10% from 351 m2/team to 315 m2/team. Key drivers to improve stope 

team efficiencies include increasing IMS, improving safety performance and specifically 

ensuring strict compliance with mine operating standards and procedures. Total mine labour 

productivity improved by 4% from 29.5t milled per total employee (including contractors) 

to 30.54t/employee, largely as a result of a reduction in the total labour complement from 

6,658 employees to 6,398 employees through natural attrition. 

Operating cost

The additional effort invested in maintaining total output during the difficult first half of 2011 

is reflected by the increase in operating costs. Cash cost per tonne increased by 14.7% from 

R667/t to R765/t and cash cost per platinum ounce by 14.2% from R8,524/Pt oz to R9,732/Pt 

oz. Key contributing factors were increased direct mining labour costs, overtime allowances 

for working on public holidays and the costs associated with a business optimisation project 

which amounted to R25 million for the first six months of 2011. This cost is not expected to 

be incurred  post 2011.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure increased from R363.0 million in the first six months of 2010 to 

R592 million in the first six months of 2011. This is mainly attributable to an increase in 

the Styldrift project expenditure which increased from R153.1 million to R371.0 million in 

line with the construction programme. Replacement capital involves the Phase II and Phase 

III Boschkoppie decline extension projects and reduced marginally from R170.3 million to  

R168.6 million, being R107 million for Phase II and R59 million for Phase III. Stay-in-business 

capital expenditure increased from R40.9 million in the first half of 2010 to R52.4 million in 

the first half of 2011. The R52.4 million is 6.1% of total operating expenditure and well within 

RBPlats target range of between 6% and 8%.

Financial review

The Group’s financial statements reflect the proportionate consolidation of 67% of BRPM up 

to 7 November 2010 and from the date of change of control of BRPM being the date of listing  

(8 November 2010) the Group fully consolidates BRPM and accounts for non-controlling 

interest as a separate line item. 

Net revenue increased by 53% mainly as a result of the change of the basis of accounting as 

noted above. The actual increase in revenue at BRPM for the six months ended 30 June 2011 

compared with the same period for 2010 was only 3%. Revenue from production through 

the BRPM concentrator decreased from R1 466.9 million for the first six months of 2010 to  

R1 419.8 million for the first six months of 2011. This 3.2% decrease was due to a 6% reduction 

in volumes and an 8.4% strengthening in the Rand/US dollar exchange rate offset by higher 

PGM and base metal prices.

Toll concentrating of UG2 contributed R90.6 million for the six months ended 30 June 

2011,offsetting the decrease in revenue from BRPM. No toll concentrating revenue was 

reflected in the comparative period.

The 12% improvement in gross profit is as a result of the change in the basis of accounting, 

offset by a 14% increase in cash operating costs for the first six months of 2011 compared with 

the same period for 2010. Furthermore, the depreciation and amortisation charges for the 

six months ended 30 June 2011 were 45% higher than the same period for 2010  due to the 

change in the basis of accounting.

Earnings before tax, interest, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA), as a percentage of 

revenue decreased from 44.7% for the first six months of 2010 to 36.1% for the first six months 

of 2011 mainly as a result of the increase in cash operating costs at the operation and the 

increased administration costs at corporate office. 

Other income increased by R33.6 million mainly as a result of net income of R28.9 million 

for the settlement of intercompany balances with Rustenburg Platinum Mines Limited and 

the first time inclusion of the 6&8 shaft Impala royalty payable for Q2 2011 of R3.9 million.

Administration expenses increased by 179.1% compared to the same period last year as a 

result of the full staffing of the RBPlat corporate office (including non-executive directors). 

The administration costs for the first six months of 2011 also include a share-based payment 

charge of R13.2 million that was not there in the comparative period. 

The current tax charge increased to R10.7 million from R0.2 million for the first six months of 

2011, mainly due to income tax payable on interest income.

Finance income increased compared to the comparative period due to interest earned on 

funds raised from the 2010 listing invested in interest bearing deposits and R6.9 million 

dividends received on the Nedbank preference shares.  

The RBPlat Group utilised its Nedbank revolving credit facility during the first six months of 

2010. This was repaid during November 2010 with proceeds from the listing. This is also the 

reason for the reduction in finance costs for the first six months of 2011 compared to the 

same period for 2010.

Capital expenditure of R592 million was funded partly from cash flows from the operation of 

R390 million and the remainder from the cash inflow due to settlement of the intercompany 

balances.

Project review

Boschkoppie North and South Shaft Phase II and North Shaft Phase III

Boschkoppie Phase II has been a seven year capital replacement project, which entailed the 

extension of Boschkoppie North and South shafts from 6 level down to 10 level. The project 

has progressed well over the last six months meeting both cost and schedule parameters. 

North shaft will be completed in August this year while South shaft will be completed in the 

first half of 2012.

Phase III is the extension of North shaft from 11 level down to 15 level. This project started 

in January 2010 and will be completed in July 2017. The project is presently under budget 

and slightly ahead of schedule .

Styldrift I Project

Styldrift I Project has progressed exceptionally well over the past six months with erection of 

the main and service shaft headgears having started in January 2011. The erection phase was 

completed successfully with zero harm, this being a result of the intense focus that is placed 

on the implementation of project safety protocols at Styldrift.

Pre-sink activities began during the last quarter of 2010 on the main and service shafts. 

This was successfully completed down to a depth of just over 60 metres in April 2011.

Conversion from pre-sink to full sink was completed at the end of June with the full sink 

having commenced in July.

The project is currently two months ahead of schedule  and reflecting a cost saving against 

budget of approximately R233.4 million to date. These savings have been effected by adopting 

a focused approach to design, procurement, contract management and cost management. 

Major areas of saving are in civil, electrical and engineering, procurement and construction 

management (EPCM) costs

A design optimisation of the Styldrift I underground operations is being conducted. The key 

components of the optimisation include: shaft bottom infrastructure, bord and pillar mining 

layouts, trucks vs. conveyors on strike haulages, pneumatic vs. electric drilling and access 

to the UG2.

Sustainable development

Our sustainability framework was completed and agreed to by the Board during the first 

quarter of the period under review. The framework consists of key objectives and related 

indicators that will guide the performance of the business in our strategy of growth in safe 

ounces through operational excellence and project expansion.  

Environmental stewardship

A feasibility study for the construction of a water retreatment plant was started during the 

period under review. Construction of this plant could begin in the fourth quarter of 2011 and, 

on completion in 2012, an increase in the use of retreated water is anticipated.

Community development

Community development in line with the Mining Charter and RBPlat’s own Social and Labour 

Plan is progressing to schedule. Particular focus during the period has been establishing 

credible enterprise development initiatives to benefit local small and medium sized 

enterprises. 

Stakeholder engagement 

Relationships with nearby communities have been co-operative, supported by a visible and 

stable community leadership.

Regular engagement with the minerals regulator has been established on issues relating to 

community development through the Social and Labour Plan.

Market review

The primary contributors to revenue for RBPlat were platinum (65%), palladium (11.55%), 

rhodium (6.01%), gold (2.99%), nickel (9.57%) and copper (2.35%).

The platinum price appreciated by 9% in 2010, recovering from a mid-year retreat to average 

$1 712/oz by December, and rising by a further 3% to average $1 770/oz in June 2011. 

The platinum market is set to move into deficit in the future The Japanese earthquake hit 

vehicle manufacture  and jewellery demand and, with recent high oil prices, has reduced 

previously forecast platinum market deficit to a balanced market for 2011. A fundamental 

recovery in the platinum market is expected in 2012/early 2013 as buying of platinum for 

autocatalysts recovers. Thus, there is limited further upside in the short term. 

Global primary platinum production is estimated to have increased by 126 000 (+2.2% year-

on-year) in 2010. There were substantial production losses as a result of industrial action, 

safety stoppages in South Africa and structural geology issues. Constrained growth is expected 

in 2011 as these issues persist, exacerbated by  depleting Merensky Reef reserves. These are 

likely to offset any significant recovery at major operations. 

The palladium price has recovered strongly through 2010 and 2011, from an average of $460/

oz in June 2010 to $770/oz in June 2011.

Palladium autocatalyst demand in 2010 had already reached 96% of 2007 pre-crisis levels, 

while platinum was still at only 76%. Palladium consumption should exceed pre-crisis levels in 

2011. Mine supply picked up by only 2.4% in 2010, still over 1 Moz/annum short of 2006 peak 

levels. Total supply, including recycling, was 5% higher than in 2009, but was outpaced 2:1 by 

demand growth. Based on market fundamentals and excluding Exchange Traded Fund (ETF) 

holdings and stock sales, the palladium market has shifted into deficit.

Strong growth in Chinese auto demand, combined with gasoline vehicle dominance and the 

use of palladium in diesel catalysts, will ensure that demand growth outstrips supply, and 

prices remain firm. A palladium market deficit of over 300,000 oz in 2010 is projected to rise 

to over 1 Moz in the next four years, leading to an over-reliance on above-ground stocks. The 

launch of a palladium ETF in the United States of America could contract the market, causing 

prices to spike in future.  

The rhodium price has lost some of its early recovery since, settling at around $2 000/oz. 

Despite automotive rhodium demand rising by just over 100 000 year-on-year to around  

800 000, the market is still 20% down on 2007 peak levels. Rhodium demand is projected to 

achieve a full recovery by 2012, but increasing supply from UG2 ores, recycling and significant 

above-ground stocks should keep the market well supplied over the next three years. Prices 

are unlikely to fall significantly from current levels and will appreciate as the vehicle market 

gains traction. The market should once again shift to deficit as recovering automotive catalyst 

demand absorbs excess market stock. 

Directorate
Shareholders were advised of the appointment of the sixth independent non-executive 

director, Ms Matsotso Vuso with effect from 12 April 2011. The RBPlat board now comprises  

10 directors,  with three executive directors and seven non executive directors.

Prospects
2011 is a year of consolidation for RBPlat, with the further embedding of the achievements 

since taking operational control from Anglo American Platinum in January 2010. Given the 

challenging first half of the year, production for the full year is expected to remain at levels 

similar to those achieved in 2010.

The decision by the Company to start with the co-extraction of UG2 is showing results and 

continues to provide the Company with flexibility in its operations. The operations continue to 

have a Merensky bias with the ratio of Merensky to UG2  expected to remain at around 85%:15% 

for the foreseeable future.

Operating costs remain a key challenge for the Company and are expected to increase at 

a higher rate than inflation for the remainder of 2011 due to higher input costs as well as 

increased wages with effect from 1 July. RBPlat continues to enjoy a healthy financial position 

with the strong cash generative Boschkoppie anticipated to fund at least 50% of the Company’s 

Styldrift project. The Company remains optimistic about the outlook for the PGM markets in 

the medium-long term taking into account the supply constraints which  continue to face the 

industry.  

Steve Phiri  

Kgomotso Moroka

Chief Executive Officer  

Chairman
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GROUP

COMPANY

Note

2011
R

2010
R

2011
R

2010
R

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investment property

3	
660 000 

625	000

–

–

Property, p
lant and equipment

4	
50 822 394 

54	506	077	
8 671 799 

10	380	337

Intangible assets

5	
2 543 331 

5	219	086

–

–

Investments in subsidiaries

6

–

–
41 363 518 

54	868	941

Loans to group companies

7

–

–
26 425 292 

19	420	580

Other financial assets

8	
4 848 294 

2	844	294	
4 843 000 

2	839	000

Deferred tax

9 
1 189 357 

1	277	435	
565 244 

565	244

60 063 376
64	471	892

81 868 853
88	074	102

Current assets

Inventories

10	
19 148 234 

20	304	211

–

–

Current tax receivable

253 884 
781	092

–
283	299

Trade and other receivables

11
6 444 502

9	984	105	
744 123 

842	940

Cash and cash equivalents

12
1 093 523

1	106	388

84 088
114	938

26 940 143 
32	175	796	

828 211 
1	241	177

Total assets 

87 003 519 
96	647	688	

82 697 064 
89	315	279

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Share capital

13	 124 280 630 113	315	369	 124 400 630 113	315	369

Reserves

14
1 805 880 

2	682	223	
2 595 877 

3	472	220

Accumulated loss

(77 701 092) (65	757	688)	 (62 095 602) (44	222	759)

48 385 418 
50	239	904	

64 900 905 
72	564	830

Liabilitie
s

Non-current liabilities

Loans fro
m group companies 

7

–

–
493 232

–

Other financial liabilities

15
10 014 384 

10	017	340	
10 014 384 

10	014	384

Instalment sale obligation

16
674 242 

969	451
582 030

728	057

Deferred tax

9 
5 598 713

 10	044	752
416 625

565	244

Provisio
ns

17	
4 835 423 

4	700	000

–

–

21 122 762 
25	731	543	

11 506 271 
11	307	685

Current liabilities

Other financial liabilities

15	
11 646 

3	467	582

–

–

Instalment sale obligation

16	
754 388 

704	658	
595 627 

533	354

Trade and other payables

18	
9 213 013 

8	970	543	
1 071 494 

335	378

Provisio
ns

17	
500 000 

500	000

–

–

Bank overdraft

12
 7 016 292 

7	033	458	
4 622 767 

4	574	032

17 495 339 
20	676	241	

6 289 888 
5	442	764

Total liabilitie
s

38 618 101 
46	407	784	

17 796 159 
16	750	449

Total equity a
nd liabilitie

s

87 003 519 
96	647	688	

82 697 064 
89	315	279
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ABOUT AFRICAN BRICK CENTRE

GROUP STRUCTURE
The business of African Brick is transacted through its subsidiaries. A description of the activities conducted by these subsidiaries follows.

LANDTON PROPERTIES (PTY) LIMITED
Landton Properties owns the premises on which the manufacturing facilities of African Brick Krugersdorp are situated. The Krugersdorp facility is 
90 hectares in extent and consists of a factory building and an administrative building.

AFRICAN BRICK (PTY) LIMITED TRADING AS AFRICAN BRICK 
•	 The	core	of	the	current	manufacturing	facilities	at	the	Krugersdorp	factory	was	built	in	1984	and	extensively	upgraded	in	1994.	
•	 	Maximum	production	capacity	of	36	million	bricks	per	annum	through	a	computer-controlled	tunnel	dryer	system	with	the	option	to	further	

dry	24	million	bricks	naturally.	The	company	is	in	the	process	of	finalising	the	acquisition	of	an	additional	10	ha	land	next	to	the	Krugersdorp	
facility in order to increase drying capacity. This will enable the factory to introduce a second shift, increasing production capacity from  
36	million	to	54	million	bricks	in	the	medium	term.	

•	 The	Krugersdorp	facility	is	the	closest	FBA	manufacturing	facility	to	Rustenburg	and	the	West	Rand.
•	 	The	nature	of	the	clay	reserves	allows	the	factory	to	produce	a	brick	with	a	dark	blue	colour.	No	other	manufacturer	can	duplicate	the	

features of this product, which commands a premium price whilst the recession had little impact on demand.
•	 	African	Brick	has	always	been	managed	responsibly	in	terms	of	environmental	issues,	with	all	statutory	approvals	and	permits	in	place.	

African Brick applied for the new order mineral rights shortly after the approval was obtained from the securities regulation panel for  
a	51%	share	acquisition	by	Yakani	Infraco	(Pty)	Limited,	a	100%	owned	empowerment	group,	on	30	January	2009.	

•	 African	Brick	Krugersdorp	is	also	registered	in	terms	of	the	Atmospheric	Pollution	Prevention	Act	(Act	45	of	1965).

Output from the manufacturing operations of African Brick is sold to the retailing arm of the company at market related wholesale prices. This is 
a key strategy in ensuring a consistent pricing policy being applied over the full spectrum of wholesale and retail customers of the African Brick 
group.

AFRICAN BRICK LENASIA (PTY) LIMITED TRADING AS AFRICAN BRICK COEGA 
•	 	African	Brick	expanded	its	manufacturing	capacity	in	2008	when	Pentz	Bricks	was	acquired	and	a	new	factory	was	commissioned,	named	

Coega.	The	factory	has	a	production	capacity	of	24	million	bricks	per	annum	and	manufactures	stock	bricks.	The	brick	represents	
exceptional quality with clay sourced in terms of a supply agreement from Addo Minerals, one of a few suppliers who received a new order 
mining right in this area.

•	 	African	Brick	acquired	the	strategic	Zuurbekom	property	in	2003,	which	lies	in	close	proximity	to	the	large	Syferfontein	reserves	and	which	
the company intends to develop as its third manufacturing facility. The project is currently on hold due to the effect of the recession and 
inability to secure electricity supply in the short term.

•	 	In	1996	the	mining	rights	to	the	nearby	Syferfontein	clay	deposit	were	acquired.	The	raw	material	(clay)	resource	at	the	Syferfontein	mine,	
100	hectares	in	extent,	is	of	an	exceptionally	high	quality	and	scarce	in	occurrence	west	of	Johannesburg.	Clay	is	currently	sold	to	African	
Brick	(Pty)	Limited	for	brick	manufacturing	purposes.

RETAIL OPERATIONS
These centres operate under African Brick Centre trademark in terms of an agency agreement and are granted exclusive marketing rights for a 
particular geographical area.

The	retail	section	of	African	Brick	Centre	Honeydew	also	markets	third	party	building	materials,	with	more	than	50%	of	its	sales	coming	from	
these sources. 

African Brick  
(Pty) Limited

Landton  
Properties  

(Pty) Limited

African Brick 
Lenasia  

(Pty) Limited

Dash Brick and 
Building Supplies 

Strubensvalley
(Pty) Limited

AFRICAN BRICK CENTRE LIMITED

100% 100% 100% 100%

ANNUAL REPORT 2011

conceptualise •  actualise • realise

African Brick Centre Limited
Annual report 2011
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Royal Bafokeng Platinum
Interim results advert
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Kumba Iron Ore
Interim results advert
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Physical address
3rd Floor, Building 3
Fancourt Office Park
Cnr Northumberland 
& Felstead Avenue
Northriding

main	 011 704 3641

PO Box 1482
Fontainebleau
Randburg
2032

Annette Jordaan
direct	 011 462 9064
mobile	 082 463 6006
fax	 086 692 4256
annette@purplefrog.co.za

Natascha Jordaan
direct	 011 462 7242
mobile	 082 897 6878
fax	 086 692 4237
natascha@purplefrog.co.za

Patricia Utton
direct	 011 462 6404
mobile	 082 374 6111
fax	 086 591 8857
patricia@purplefrog.co.za

www.purplefrog.co.za

Purple Frog Communications 
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